Public Document Pack

Housing and Community Overview
and Scrutiny
Agenda

Scrutiny making a positive difference: Member led and independent,
Overview & Scrutiny Committee promote service improvements, influence
policy development & hold Executive to account for the benefit of the
Community of Dacorum

Wednesday 13 October 2021 at 7.30 pm

The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda.

Membership
Councillor Harden
Councillor Adeleke (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Bassadone
Councillor Imarni (Chairman)
Councillor Mahmood
Councillor Pringle
Councillor Durrant

Councillor Johnson
Councillor Oguchi
Councillor Hollinghurst
Councillor Barry
Councillor Freedman
Councillor Ransley

For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support

AGENDA
1.

MINUTES
To confirm the minutes from the previous meeting

2.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies for absence

3.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest
A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who
attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered -

1

(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest
becomes apparent
and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a personal interest which is
also prejudicial
(ii) may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw
to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation.
A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not
registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a pending
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the
disclosure.
Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in Part 2
of the Code of Conduct For Members
[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be
declared they should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the
meeting]
4.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
An opportunity for members of the public to make statements or ask questions in
accordance with the rules as to public participation

5.

CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE IN
RELATION TO CALL-IN

6.

HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY (Pages 3 - 94)

7.

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY & SPORTS ACTION PLAN (Pages 95 - 106)

8.

GARAGES PROJECT PRESENTATION
There is not a report for this item as it will be a presentation only.

9.

WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 107 - 109)

10.

ACTION POINTS FROM 1 SEPTEMBER 2021 (Pages 110 - 113)

2

Agenda Item 6

AGENDA ITEM:
SUMMARY

Report for:

Housing & Communities Overview & Scrutiny
Committee

Date of meeting:

13 October 2021

PART:

1

If Part II, reason:
Title of report:
Contact:

Housing Allocations Policy
Councillor Margaret Griffiths, Portfolio Holder for Housing
Author/Responsible Officer – Natasha Beresford, Strategic
Housing Group Manager

Purpose of report:

1. Members to note the proposals in the draft Housing
Allocations Policy.
2. Members to offer feedback regarding policy proposals.

Recommendations

Corporate
objectives:
Implications:

That the Committee note the proposed new Housing
Allocations Policy and changed approach.

Providing good quality affordable homes in particular for those
most in need
Building sustainable communities
Financial
There are no identified financial implications for the service
through implementation of the new policy.
Value for Money

‘Value For Money
Implications’

Risk Implications

The Housing Service & its costs are reviewed annually through
a national benchmarking organisation (Housemark). The
council properties let via the council’s Housing Allocations
Policy are let in line with the Rent Regulators framework.
Housing Operational Risk Register details the risks associated
with the management of the housing service. The Coronavirus
Pandemic has been added to the operational risk register as
the implications of Government restrictions on movement
during lockdown and the ongoing guidance, has resulted in a

Page 3

number of risks to the management and delivery of services
including allocations within social housing.
Equalities
Implications

Impact assessment has been developed in partnership with
the Diversity and Inclusion Lead Officer.

Health And Safety
Implications

Health & Safety is an identified key risk for the Housing
Service and is managed in line with corporate guidelines.

Consultees:

Mark Gaynor – Corporate Director, Housing and Regeneration
Oliver Jackson – Group Manager, Tenants and Leaseholders
Layna Warden – Group Manager, Communities
Tenant & Leaseholder Committee
Cybele Fernandes, Diversity & Inclusion Lead Officer
Portfolio Holder Chief Officer Group

Background
papers:

Appendix 1 - Housing Allocations Policy 2017
Appendix 2 – TLC Presentation November 2020
Appendix 2a – Housing Allocations Policy TLC report
Appendix 3 – Member Development presentation December
2020
Appendix 4 – Consultation results (survey)
Appendix 5 – Herts LA income thresholds and Local
connection
Appendix 6 – Village Connection data
Appendix 7 – New Draft Housing Allocations Policy
Appendix 8 – Equalities Impact Assessment

Historical
background (please
give a brief
background to this
report to enable it to
be considered in the
right context).

Glossary of
acronyms and any
other abbreviations
used in this report
and appendices:

The council is required to review its Housing Allocations Policy
every four years, or upon notification of new legislative change
or associated case law. The Housing Allocations Policy is a
statutory requirement and outlines how the council will
approach allocations to social and affordable housing units of
new build/re-lets in the borough.
TLC – Tenant and Leaseholder Committee

Page 4

1.0

Introduction

1.0.1

The council’s current Housing Allocations policy was reviewed In November 2017
and adopted in April 2018 following Cabinet approval.
There were minor
amendments made to the policy by way of Portfolio Holder decision since adoption
and the policy was last updated in February 2021. A copy of the current Housing
Allocations Policy is at Appendix 1.

1.0.2

Local authorities are required to have a defined housing allocations scheme in line
with the Housing Act 1996, Part 6 (Allocations). A housing authority allocates
accommodation when it:
selects a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of accommodation held by
that authority;




nominates a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of accommodation held by
another housing authority;



nominates a person to be an assured tenant of accommodation held by a Private
Registered Provider.
The Act provides detailed explanation of the rules and exceptions governing the
allocation of social housing. Local authorities must ensure that their allocations
scheme is compliant with the framework, associated legislation and case law.

1.0.3 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, each local authority has the right to
determine their own Housing Allocations Policy. This allows local authorities to give
“reasonable preference” to certain categories of applicants, ensure that properties
are allocated in a fair and reasonable manner as well as enabling better manage our
stock. The defined policy sets out the rules that the council must follow when letting
properties. This also allows the council to manage unrealistic expectations of those
applicants who have little or no prospect of being allocated a property. It is a legal
requirement that the policy is reviewed in the event of legislative and or case law
change, in absence of such change the policy should be revised every 4 years.
2.0

Reviewing existing policy

2.0.1

In reviewing the existing policy, the service has engaged with key stakeholders and
customers, regarding key service issues and trends identified during the life of the
policy, this has been an extensive process with several opportunities for feedback to
be provided.

2.0.2

Initial consultation was undertaken with the Tenant and Leasehold Committee (TLC)
in November 2020 (Appendix 2 and 2a), followed by a dedicated Member
Development session in December 2020 (Appendix 3). This gave the opportunity for
an overview of the Allocations Policy framework and discussion of key issues.

2.0.3

Internal service engagement was undertaken by the Housing Needs Team Leader
through a series of 121 meetings and discussions at the Housing Operations
Meeting. This and the prior sessions with the TLC and Members helped to inform
the survey developed in partnership with the Corporate Communications team.

2.0.4

A public consultation was made available via a link on the council’s main and Moving
with Dacorum website, which was shared with key partners and promoted via social
media, this provided a six- week window through February and March 2021 for

Page 5

stakeholders to give their feedback. Results of the survey can be seen at Appendix
4.
2.0.5

Following receipt of the survey results, there was final internal consultation via the
Housing Senior Management Team in May 2021 proposing key changes that were
to be presented to the TLC on 27 May 2021. Thereafter feedback and comments
were shaped into the draft Housing Allocations Policy, which was discussed with the
Portfolio Holder, Councillor Margaret Griffiths. This led to a further elected member
group discussion in July 2021 relating to proposals regarding the local connection
criteria, which helped to shape the final policy draft.

3.0

Revised policy development and key changes proposed

3.0.1 The following points outline the key areas of change proposed in the new draft policy
following extensive engagement.
3.0.2 The council retains 1906 supported housing properties, broken down these are 691
dispersed properties in the community such as bungalows and 1215 properties that
are within a scheme. The Housing Needs Team have continually experienced
challenges in allocating to supported housing properties for a number of reasons,
which is primarily due to the stock not lending itself to modern living requirements of
the applicants. In addition to this in line with the previous policy a maximum capital
threshold of £250,000 was set for applicants in order to be eligible to apply for
sheltered housing. Applicants owning property or having savings/capital above this
value could not be considered. Elected Members have been consulted and have
provided no strong steer in relation to the threshold, however have been clear that
letting supported housing stock is a priority. It is proposed to remove the capital
threshold, which will enable more households to access social housing and reduce
the number of sheltered vacancies.
3.0.3 Current Allocation Policy states local connection should be 10 years residence in
Dacorum at any point in their lifetime or 10 years residence of immediate family
member, in addition applicants with 16 hours or more permanent employment in the
borough boundary for 2 years or more would qualify for local connection. Applicants
wishing to live in a village within Dacorum, would need to identify a local connection
for 10 years or more to that village. It is proposed that the local connection is not
reduced in line with the Homelessness legislation (6 out of last 12 months or 3 out of
5 years) and that it should remain as previously mentioned. In relation to village
connection criteria it is proposed that this be reduced to 5 years (to specific village)
with a 10 year Dacorum connection, this is to reflect the growing number of
allocations being made to applicants without a village connection or less than 10
years.
3.0.4 Currently applicants applying to the housing register, must evidence that they have
capital/savings below £16,000 and household income of no more than £60,000. The
service is experiencing unprecedented demand for social housing, in many cases
from households who are able to resolve their housing difficulty through their own
means and do not require access to social housing. As a result it is proposed to
introduce tiered income thresholds for applicants joining the register, so as to ensure
that social housing is for those households who are unable to access other forms of
affordable accommodation. Proposed thresholds are indicated below:
1 bedroom: £40,000; 2 bedroom £50,000 and 3 bedroom + £60,000.

Page 6

3.0.5

The Dacorum Bedroom Standard states that a pair of same sex children up to the
age of 16 years old can share a bedroom and a pair of different sex children are
entitled to their own bedroom once the eldest child reaches 5 years, in this instance
overcrowding points are awarded. This was previously introduced to free up two
bedroom properties, however the change several years on has meant that there is
an increased demand for three bedroom property which cannot be realised.
Following engagement it was deemed reasonable to propose that a pair of different
sex children should be eligible for their own bedroom at the age of 10 years unless a
medical need determines otherwise. This proposal may see a reduction in the
number of households living in unaffordable accommodation as a result of the
bedroom tax and brings the standard in line with Housing Benefit Regulations.

3.0.6

Throughout the review process the service has also considered feedback from
complaints, MP enquiries and service requests. An observation of the current policy
is that several areas are open to interpretation, which can lead to confusion for
applicants and increased customer enquiries as a result, which impacts on service
delivery and response times. The new draft policy seeks to resolve this by providing
an increased level of detail regarding the application and assessment process, plus
information regarding other related areas. In addition there is a further intention that
a suite of supporting documentation and detailed process maps will be developed to
enable our customers to better self-serve, which is hoped will further reduce
response times.

3.0.7

As the letting of social housing using the Allocations Policy framework is a statutory
function, the service must ensure it is compliant with the legislative framework that
underpins the policy. As a result the new draft policy, which can be viewed at
Appendix 7 has been reviewed by external counsel and the council’s own Legal
Service prior to presentation to Portfolio Holder Chief Officer Group, the external
Barrister provided comments on the policy and made minor amendments to wording
and key statements, providing confirmation that the document was sufficient to
comply with the legislative framework and associated caselaw.

3.0.8

The service has liaised with the Diversity and Inclusion Lead Officer to undertake an
Equalities Impact Assessment, which can be seen at Appendix 8.

4.0.1

Consideration

4.0.2

Request of members to note the policy and provide feedback on the proposed policy
changes explained.

Page 7

Page 8

Housing Allocations Policy
Last reviewed November 2017, adopted April 2018.
(Updated February 2021)

1.0 Allocations policy overview

1.1 Introduction

This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis.

Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) is committed to allocating all
social and affordable housing within the borough to those in
most need and ensuring people have the best possible chance
of sustaining their tenancy. This Housing Allocations Policy sets
out how we prioritise applications for council and housing
association homes based on a person’s circumstances and
level of housing need.

Contents
1.0 Policy overview
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Aim(s) of the policy
1.3 Links to the council’s corporate aims
1.4 Equality and diversity
1.5 Policy statement

Page 9

2.0 Eligibility and Qualification
2.1 Age
2.2 Local Connection
2.3 Right to Move
2.4 Home Ownership
2.5 Financial Means
2.6 Anti-social Behaviour
2.7 Rent Arrears
2.8 Deliberately Worsened Circumstances
2.9 False, Misleading or Withheld Information
2.10 The Household
3.0 Administration of the Housing Register
3.1 Bidding
3.2 Property Adverts
3.3 Direct Offers
3.4 Checks and Assessments
3.5 Renewal and Removal
3.6 Review and Appeal
3.7 Disclosure of Information and Conflicts of Interest
4.0 Points and Additional Priority
4.1 People Who Are Homeless
4.2 Unsanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory Housing
4.3 Medical and Welfare
4.4 Moving Due to Hardship
4.5 Armed Forces
4.6 Right to Move
4.7 Other Additional Priority Criteria
4.8 Bedroom Criteria
5.0 Further Specific Criteria
5.1 Adapted Properties
5.2 Village Lettings
5.3 Local Lettings Scheme
5.4 Supported Housing and Flexi Care
6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions
7.0 Appendices

To deliver this, we manage a choice based lettings system in
Dacorum and households wanting to apply to be on the
Council’s housing register will need to complete an application
form online at Moving with Dacorum. Whilst Moving with
Dacorum advertises all social and affordable housing options,
this policy only applies to the allocation of council-owned
homes.
Support is available to those applicants who are unable to
submit their application online by either visiting the customer
service unit at The Forum or by requesting a paper application.
Each housing association within the borough will have its own
allocations policy, which may have different rules about who is
eligible. These policies should be available on their website or
by contacting the housing association directly.
DBC no longer maintains a deferred housing register.
Applicants who are not accepted to the housing register are
encouraged to re-apply if and when their circumstances
change.

1.3 Links to council’s corporate
aims
This policy supports the council’s corporate priorities of
providing good quality affordable homes, in particular
for those most in need; and building strong and vibrant
communities. Our corporate priorities are set out in
‘Delivering for Dacorum – Corporate Plan 2015-2020’.

1.4 Equality and diversity
The council is committed to promoting equality of
opportunity in housing services and has procedures in
place to ensure that all Applicants and Tenants are
treated fairly and without unlawful discrimination in
line with the Equality Act 2010.

1.5 Policy Statement(s)
Applicants will need to meet eligibility and any
applicable qualification requirements in order to be
active on the housing register (see 2.0).
We will administrate the housing register and allocate
homes by adhering to a fair and transparent process
(see 3.0).

Points will be awarded to applicants based on their
housing need and priority group status (see 4.0).

1.2 Aim(s) of the policy
The aims of this policy are to:





Ensure we allocate homes appropriately and fairly to
those in need;
Ensure we make best use of local housing stock;
Create sustainable communities; and
Set out our approach to eligibility for and qualification to
DBC’s housing register.

We will offer additional priority to applicants who fit
specialist criteria (see 5.0).

There are a number of exemptions and exceptions to
the guidelines laid out in this policy (see 6.0).

2.0 Eligibility and
Qualification

2.0 Eligibility & Qualification
As a local authority, we must adhere to all legal
requirements that affect who we allocate social and
affordable housing to. We are required to consider an
applicant’s eligibility at the time of their initial
application and again when they have been successful in
bidding for a property in order to allocate them a home.
If an applicant is found not eligible at any time during
this process, the allocation cannot continue and neither
a sole nor a joint tenancy can be granted.
Under this policy, an applicant is not eligible if:



They are subject to immigration control (unless
covered under the exceptions stated in the Housing
Act 1996, Part 6).
They are prescribed as being ‘persons from abroad’
as defined in the Housing Act 1996, Part 6.

Page 10

Where an applicant lacks capacity, the housing service
will liaise with the relevant appointed representative to
ensure that their housing needs are fully assessed and
appropriate arrangements are made to meet future
accommodation needs. This may include liaison with
alternative housing agencies to provide specialist
packages of support.
In addition to eligibility, applicants must also meet the
criteria outlined within the rest of this policy in order to
qualify for the housing register and bid on homes.
Eligible but non-qualifying applicants will not receive a
sole tenancy under this policy; however, they will be able
to enter into a joint tenancy as long as the other
applicant is both eligible and qualifying. The qualifying
criteria do not apply to applicants to whom a reasonable
preference must be given under the Housing Act 1996
and Regulations made by the Secretary of State.

2.2) Local Connection
Subject to the exceptions outlined below, applicants must
meet the local connection criteria by providing evidence of
at least one of the following:





Additional local connection criteria apply to certain villages
within the borough; applicants will need to meet criteria
above for the specific village and applicants with a
connection to the specified village are given priority at the
short listing stage (see 5.2). There are however a number
of circumstances which mean that an applicant may not
need to meet the local connection criteria in order to
qualify, these are as follows:







2.1) Age
Applicants must be 18 or over, unless age 16 or 17 and
are either entitled to a reasonable preference under Part
6 of the Housing Act 1996 or are otherwise considered as
part of a high risk property group (see 4.0).

A 10 year residency within the borough at some point
in their lifetime;
Family connection where an immediate family member
(parents, children, siblings) has continuously been a
resident within the borough for 10 years immediately
preceding the date of application;
Currently in permanent employment within the
borough boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or
more, and which has been continuous for the last 24
months.





Current council or housing association resident living
within the borough;
Applicants for sheltered housing aged 60 and over or
between 50 – 59 when there is a medical or social
isolation need recognized by the internal housing
panel;
Members of the armed forces where the application is
made within 5 years of discharge (includes bereaved
spouses and civil partners leaving service family
accommodation following the death of their partner);
Existing social housing tenants seeking to transfer from
another local authority district in England because they
work in the district, need to avoid hardship or need to
move to take up an offer of work in the area (see
below ‘Right to Move’)
Where the requirement of a local connection may
infringe equality and diversity legislation (e.g. Equality
Act 2010). These applications will be considered on a
case by case basis by the Housing Panel; or
Residents living in refuges within the Dacorum area.

2.0 Eligibility and
2.0 Eligibility and
Qualification
Qualification

2.3) Right to Move






Page 11

Applicants applying for housing within Dacorum from
another local authority due to an offer of work within the
borough must demonstrate a genuine intention to take up
the offer. Evidence can include a contract of employment,
wage slips or bank statements, tax/benefit information and
a formal offer letter. Any contracts must be for more than
12 months, consisting of 16 hours or more a week.
Voluntary work does not qualify for the right to move.
We must also be satisfied that the required move is based
on applicants’ needs, rather than wishes. Things considered
when assessing this include (but are not limited to):
Distance / time to travel between work and home;
Opportunities available closer to home;
Impact on opportunity to improve employment
circumstances (e.g. promotion;
Availability and affordability of transport.

The council may contact the employer to verify an
application at the point of joining the housing register or
before making an offer.

and will be signed off as an exception to policy by the Assistant
Director of Housing.
2.5) Financial Means
Applicants will not qualify if they have the financial means to
meet their own housing need. We define this as the applicant
and/or their partner having in excess of £60,000 gross income
or £16,000 in savings (except where a lump sum has been paid
to a current or former member of the armed forces as
compensation). Supported housing applicants will be exempt
from this criteria if it is evident that their financial means is
£250,000 or less.




2.6) Anti-Social Behaviour
Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that legal or
other serious action has been taken against any member of the
household due to anti-social behaviour (ASB) within the 2
years immediately preceding the date of application.
Applicants with any of the below legal orders will not be
considered to qualify and will be unable to access the housing
register for a period of 1, 3 or 5 years (see below):











Have been evicted on the grounds of rent arrears from
a council or housing association property in the five
years immediately preceding the application; or
There is an existing notice or a possession order on the
property.

Exceptions may be made in certain circumstances, e.g. a
current tenant downsizing to make rent payments more
manageable, which will be considered at the discretion of
the internal housing panel. When exceptions are made,
and an applicant with arrears is permitted to move, any
debt owed to the council will still be required to be paid.
2.8) Deliberately Worsened Circumstances

Acceptable Behaviour Contract (1 year);
Community Protection Notice (1 year);
Legal Undertakings (3 years);
Anti-Social Behaviour Injunction (3 years);
Premise Closure Order (5 years); or
Criminal Behaviour Order (5 years).

In addition, applicants will also not qualify if they or any
members of their household:

2.4) Home Ownership
Applicants must not own the freehold or leasehold to any
property within the UK and/or internationally. This does not
apply to supported housing applicants aged 60 or over.
However, if a supported housing applicant has sufficient
means (including financial interest in a property) to
purchase suitable accommodation for their needs in the
Dacorum area they may not qualify for an allocation. If
exceptional circumstances preclude this from happening
they may still be eligible for supported housing. Such
applications will be assessed on a case-by-case basis

to the council (including council tax), a housing association
or a private rented sector landlord, unless six months of
regular repayments have been made and these
repayments have been shown to reduce the arrears debt.
This includes both current and former arrears. Applicants
will also not qualify if they or any member of their
household:

Have been evicted on the grounds of ASB in the 5 years
immediately preceding the application;
Have held a demoted tenancy due to ASB in the 2 years
immediately preceding the application; or
Are a person known to be or have been involved with
serious ASB within the 2 years immediately preceding the
application, as per the advice of the council’s ASB team.

2.7) Rent Arrears
Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that they or
a member of the household has property-related arrears owed

An applicant will not qualify if there is evidence that they
have deliberately changed their circumstances in order to
qualify to and/or receive additional priority on the housing
register.
2.9) False, Misleading or Withheld Information
Applicants will not qualify if they have deliberately
provided fraudulent information by:




Giving false information;
Not disclosing all information required; or
Not informing the housing service of any important
changes to their situation.

If an applicant is found to have provided any false or
misleading information or they have withheld information
that is relevant to their housing application, their current
and any future applications will be suspended. Action may
also be taken against the applicant by the corporate antifraud team. This may result in prosecution.

2.0 Eligibility and
Qualification

application process and the period of the tenancy.
A child is not part of the household if:


3.0 Administration of the
Housing Register



The applicant has staying contact with the child for less
than 50% of the time; or
In the case of equal contact time, the property will not be
the child’s main or principal home.

A baby will be considered a household member from the date
of birth, and not during the pregnancy.
2.10) The Household

However, some housing associations will consider an unborn
baby as a household member at the point that the mother
receives her MATB1 certificate. For this reason, the council
will still take a record of the MATB1 and in these cases an
applicant may be able to bid for larger housing association
properties prior to the birth.

Any non-dependent children (aged 18 or over) or other
adults who are considered part of applicants the household
must have lived with the applicant for a minimum of 12
months and continue to do so. Any changes to the
household may affect the level of priority afforded to them
under the qualification criteria.

Where the applicant is eligible (see 2.0) but other members of
the household are not eligible, they may be considered as
part of the application if they are dependent. This applies to
both adults and children.

Page 12

As part of the application, applicants will be required to
prove they have lived at their current address for a
minimum of 12 months immediately before application and
give details of all members of their household.

Subject to a review of supporting evidence by the council’s
independent medical advisor, dependent adults who have
joined or wish to join a household because they are unable
to live independently are not required to have lived with the
applicant for the minimum of 12 months.

Applicants applying as part of a couple will need to decide
who is the primary applicant as both partners will be
considered as members of the household and will not be able
to hold an active application in both names. These
applications are assessed on the primary applicant’s housing
need only.

If an applicant holds responsibility for residency of a child
through a court decision, the child is immediately
considered part of the household.

3.0 Administration of the Housing
Register

Residency arrangements agreed by parents require the
applicant to provide supporting evidence of the
arrangement, including evidence that the child has been
living as part of their household for a minimum of 6 months
and any documents required by Housing Benefit to support
this claim.

3.1) Bidding

Any child residency arrangements submitted as part of a
housing application will be checked throughout the

Due to the operation of a choice based lettings system
whereby applicants pick which properties they wish to bid
for, we consider it reasonable to expect that where an
applicant has been successful in bidding for their chosen
property, they will accept the offer of that property.
Therefore, successful applicants will only receive one
property offer. A refusal of a property will only be
considered if the applicant can provide evidence of a valid
reason, of which the Independent Reviewing Officer shall
be the final arbiter, as to why they cannot accept it.
Examples of reasons which are unlikely to be considered
valid include (but are not limited to);




Location, size or layout of property;
Condition of property; or
Lack of garden and/or parking facilities (unless
required under a medical needs assessment).

Where an applicant can provide evidence to support their
refusal, and this is accepted by the Independent Reviewing
Officer, they will be able to continue bidding on other
properties. Where an applicant cannot provide evidence to
support their refusal of a property, their offer can be
cancelled and they may be unable to bid on any future
homes for 6 months.
3.2) Property Adverts
All properties (except supported housing), advertised
through Moving with Dacorum will be made live on any
given weekday. They will then remain live for a minimum of
three days, closing at one minute to midnight on the final
day. The first day of advertising will be the day on which an
advert goes live, provided it goes live before midday; and
will otherwise be the day afterwards.

Applicants who have applied to be on the housing register,
are eligible, and qualify can then begin bidding on properties
through Moving with Dacorum. Alternative options for
bidding include:

We recommend that applicants check for properties a
minimum of every three days to avoid missing
opportunities to bid.





Supported housing properties are advertised on a weekly
cycle and adverts will be live for five days, from one minute
to midnight on a Thursday until one minute to midnight on
the following Monday.

Over the phone on 0300 111 3570;
By text message to 07786 201131; or
In person at The Forum, Hemel Hempstead.

3.0 Administration of the
Housing Register

3.3) Direct Offers
On some occasions, properties will be allocated through a
direct offer. A direct offer means that an applicant will not
bid on properties but will receive one offer of suitable
accommodation. Direct offers are made by the housing
service outside of the choice based lettings system. When
making a direct offer the council is required to consider the
suitability of a property for all members of the household.

Page 13

These offers are used as part of our approach to preventing
homelessness. Applicants who are given a homelessness
status at the point of receiving the main housing duty will
receive one direct offer of suitable accommodation.
In addition to homeless applicants, direct offers may also
be used:






To match applicants requiring complex adaptations to
a suitable property;
For applicants living in Mother & Baby units;
In the case of hard-to-let properties (advertised at
least twice with no suitable bids);
For applicants in high-risk priority groups (see 4.0)
where a sensitive letting is required; or
For individual cases that would usually fall outside of
this policy but have an urgent or high risk housing need
(these offers can only be approved by the internal
Housing Panel)

As with all other offers, applicants will only receive one
direct offer of accommodation.

3.4) Checks and Assessments
If an applicant is successful in bidding, a full verification is
carried out at the point of offer. In some cases, a full
verification may be carried out before an offer is made.

If a renewal application is started but not completed, a
member of staff will contact the applicant directly to
request the missing information.

Documents required as part of this include (but are not
limited to):

If this information is not supplied to the council’s
satisfaction within 21 days then the details will be deleted
from the register as above.







Deleted applicants may re-apply at any point and the new
application will be considered. It is advised that applications
are only submitted or renewed if there is a genuine housing
need.




Proof of identity;
Proof of income and savings;
Proof of residency of children (Child Benefit);
Proof of pregnancy (MATB1 Form);
Confirmation of immigration status and right to work
if from abroad;
Medical evidence; and
Notice of eviction (if relevant).

Existing tenants seeking a transfer will also need to make
themselves available for a home visit.

Applicants can also be removed from the register for other
reasons including:




Applicants can aid this process by ensuring they have
accurately reflected their circumstances in their
application and by making sure they have all the
necessary documents required to evidence their situation.
At the point an offer has been made, if an applicant
cannot provide their documentation within 48 hours
(unless there are exceptional circumstances), the offer
will be withdrawn and the property offered to the next
eligible person on the shortlist.
3.5) Renewal and Removal
Applicants are required to confirm their details as part of
renewing their application on an annual basis. The council
however can ask for confirmation at any point during the
application process.
All renewal requests must be completed within 28 days
and completed through Moving with Dacorum. Failure to
renew an application within this time will result in details
being deleted from the register.



At their request;
Where they no longer meet eligibility or qualifying
requirements;
Where they have knowingly provided false, misleading
or incomplete information; or
Where they have accepted an offer of accommodation.

3.6) Reviews and Appeals
As a housing service, we will provide an open and fair review
process, in accordance with legislation, with appropriate
support being offered.
Applicants have the right to request a review of decisions
under the Housing Act 1996:



Section 160ZA Housing Act 1996 (not a qualifying
person); or
Section 166a Housing Act 1996.

Review requests must be made in writing within 21 days of
the applicant being notified of the decision. The review will
be conducted by the Independent Reviewing Officer who is
not involved in original case assessments.

3.0 Administration of the
Housing Register
4.0 Points and Additional
Priority
Applicants have the right to request an appeal of the
outcome of review decisions. Any appeal request must be
made in writing within 21 days of the applicant being notified
of the review decision. An appeal investigation will be carried
out by the Group Manager for Strategic Housing.

3.7) Disclosure of Information and Conflicts of Interest

Page 14

Information on any housing applicant is confidential and will
not be disclosed with any member of the public.
This also applies to any information related to applications.
Applicant’s family members will need written permission
from the applicant to access any information.
In certain circumstances, disclosure of an applicant’s
information to other professionals or services may be
necessary. This will only apply in certain circumstances for
example to prevent and detect fraud, or where an applicant
has particular support needs that need to be met in order to
enable them to maintain a tenancy.
In such cases, any information that is disclosed will be shared
on a need to know basis. Examples of services include but are
not limited to:



Housing officers or tenancy sustainment officers;
Corporate anti-fraud team;






Occupational health officers;
Doctors or social services;
Police or probation services; or
Other local authorities or housing associations.

Councillors, council employees and their close relatives
applying to join the housing register must disclose their
association with DBC on their application form.
Applicants with an association to DBC that are successful in
bidding on a property require approval from the Corporate
Director of Housing and Regeneration prior to the formal offer
being made.

4.0 Points and Additional Priority
All applications are reviewed and assessed by a Housing Needs
Officer who will make the decisions in terms of allocating
points to each applicant on the housing register. Points
awarded are reflective of housing need and are used to bid on
a property. Applicants with the highest number of points will
be made an offer on the property at the close of bidding (see
appendix 1 for a detailed table of points awarded).
If two or more applicants are at the top of the shortlist and are
in all other ways equal, a property will be offered to the
applicant with the earliest registration date.
4.1) People Who Are Homeless
Part 7 of The Housing Act 1996 (as referred to in the
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 as the main housing duty)
distinguishes between people who are homeless with the main
housing duty to be re-housed by a local authority and those
who are homeless with no main housing duty. This will also
reflect the requirements set out by the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017. Applicants who are homeless but are
owed either no main housing duty or a limited duty may
receive points. Those whom we have a full duty to house will
receive a direct offer as stated in section 3.3.
Prior to receiving the main housing duty decision, applicants
will receive assistance to prevent homelessness and to bid
through the choice based letting scheme with points awarded
for relevant priority need criteria.

4.2) Insanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory
Housing
As a council, we recognise that tenants in the private
rented sector are more likely to be in insanitary or
otherwise unsatisfactory dwellings which can lead to
potentially harmful health and safety risks. As a local
authority, we use the Housing Health and Safety Rating
System (HHSRS), introduced by the Housing Act 2004 to
formally score and demonstrate the seriousness of
hazards in dwellings. To address these issues, we will give
additional priority to applicants currently in private
rented sector accommodation if the property is found to:



Lack facilities or have shared facilities; or
Be in a state of disrepair.

This additional preference will only be given once and will
not increase where applicants identify both of the above
issues. Points awarded will either be of a ‘high’ or ‘low’
category (see Appendix 1) based on the following:
Low:


High:



Minor disrepair
o Category 2 hazard from bands D – F
under the HHSRS; or
Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.

Major disrepair
o Category 1 hazard from bands A – C
under the HHSRS,; or
Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.

Both minor and major disrepair will need to be confirmed
by an officer from the Private Sector Housing Team and
there must be evidence that the landlord is noncompliant in carrying out the repairs.
As a local authority we recognise that overcrowding in a
property can cause stress and have other negative
impacts on a household. In light of this, we will give
additional priority to those applicants who are
overcrowded according to our bedroom standard.

4.0 Points and Additional
Priority

Any points allocated to an applicant for overcrowding will
reflect the need set out within the bedroom standard.
Applicants are advised to read the standard when making
an application for further information on the size of
property they may be entitled to.

Page 15

In order to make best use of our available housing stock,
we encourage tenants under-occupying their home (see
4.8 bedroom criteria) to downsize to a smaller property, as
this is more reflective of their housing need.
Applicants who wish to downsize will receive points based
on how many bedrooms they would like to downsize by.
This will need to be specified in the application. As a result,
the applicant will be limited in the size of property they
can bid for.
4.3) Medical and Welfare
We will award additional points on medical grounds when
there is evidence that an applicant’s current housing
situation is having a direct impact on their and/or a
household member’s medical condition. The term ‘medical
grounds’ also covers disability.
Points will be awarded based on four categories (Extreme,
high, medium or low) and reflect the level of risk caused by
remaining in the current housing (see Appendix 1). Medical
cases are assessed by an independent medical advisor who
will advise the council when making our final decision.
We will also award additional points on welfare grounds,

which we define as care and support needs or other social
needs that do not require medical care or support e.g.
victim of domestic violence. These points are awarded
using four categories that are reflective of the level of risk
involved in the applicant remaining in their current
accommodation. Where appropriate, we may request
information from relevant professionals involved in the
applicant’s case to assess the level of need. All welfare
cases are presented to and assessed by the internal
housing panel.

4.7) Other Additional Priority Criteria
The council is also committed to recognising a number of
other criteria, and in all cases the additional priority will be
awarded as points (see appendix 1). The additional
priority criteria are as follows:



4.4) Moving Due to Hardship
In some cases, we understand that current tenants may
need to move within the borough in order to avoid
hardship. We consider that hardship may be personal or
financial. Due to this, we will allocate points to applicants
who need to move within the borough due to hardship.




Existing tenants of supported housing accommodation
who wish to move from a dispersed property in the
community to a supported housing scheme;
Existing tenants aged 60 or over in general needs
accommodation who wish to move into sheltered
accommodation;
Applicants with a dependent child or children who
occupy a flat on the first floor of a building or above
which does not have a lift.
Active applicants on the housing register who have
completed a pre-tenancy training course (not including
transfer tenants); and

4.5) Armed Forces
Members of the armed forces who qualify to our housing
register will receive additional points if:






They are serving in the regular forces and are suffering
from a serious injury, illness or disability which is
attributable to their service;
They formally served in the regular forces;
They have recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled
to reside in the accommodation provided by the
Ministry of Defence following the death of their spouse
or civil partner who served in the regular forces and
whose death was attributable to that service; or
They are serving or have served in the reserve forces
and are suffering from a serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable to their service.

4.6) Right to Move
Applicants who meet the ‘Right to Move’ qualifying criteria
(see 2.3) will receive additional points.

Please note that transfer applicants with tenancy breaches
will be required to complete a pre-tenancy training course
as part of the approval process for their transfer.
Additional priority criteria have been established in
relation to other high-risk applicants who are hard-tohouse and may require sensitive lettings. These applicants
include:





Care leavers;
Witness protection cases;
Applicants moving on from supported housing; or
Individuals identified through multi-agency
groups.

Applicants meeting the additional priority criteria are not
expected to be frequent or high in number and will always
be considered on a case-by-case basis.

4.0 Points and Other Criteria
5.0 Further Specific Criteria

4.8) Bedroom Criteria
To ensure homes reflect people’s housing need, we operate
in line with the Governments Code of Guidance 2012 as
well as the DBC bedroom standards.

5.0 Further Specific Criteria
5.1) Adapted Properties

Households who fall between the criteria within the
standards will be able to bid for properties in two size
categories to provide maximum choice.

Due to the low number of properties available in the
borough that are suitable to meet the needs of people
who have mobility and physical health conditions, we are
committed to making sure that people who need adapted
properties are prioritised for them.

For the purpose of this policy, the reference to children
sharing a room shall be considered to mean siblings or stepsiblings, not other relations or non-relations. We
understand there may be mitigating circumstances where it
is not appropriate for siblings or step-siblings to share a
bedroom as required by the standard. These cases,
including supporting evidence, will be reviewed on an
individual basis by the internal housing panel.

To do this, we categorise adapted properties and
applicants who need adaptations as low, medium or high;
and applicants may only bid for properties falling within
the category for which their needs are suited (see
Appendix 2). Applicants will then be shortlisted according
to their needs. The applicant whose needs are best
matched to the adapted property will be given priority.

Page 16

Exceptions to the bedroom criteria will also be considered if
medical evidence is provided to the housing panel showing
that a member of the household is unable to share a room
or requires an additional room for medical equipment.
Prospective adoptive or foster parents will also be
considered for exemption at the discretion of the housing
panel.
Where these cases are approved it is essential applicants
consider the affordability of separate bedrooms as the
household will be considered under-occupying their home
which may affect Housing Benefit entitlement.
Some housing association tenancy agreements may differ
from the bedroom standard used within this policy. In these
cases, we will restrict the size of the household able to bid
for the property based on the details received from the
relevant housing association.

There is also a fourth category, ‘extreme’, for those
applicants with very complex needs, where only very few
properties would be appropriate for the extent of the
adaptations required. In these cases we will make use of
direct offers (see 3.3) to allocate appropriately.
5.2 Village Lettings
When shortlisting for village properties, applicants with a
local connection (see 2.2) to a specific village (known as
village connection) will be considered above applicants
without a village connection. Villages for which additional
priority will be given for a local connection are:
Aldbury, Bovingdon, Chipperfield, Flaunden, Flamsted,
Great Gaddesden, Gaddesden Row, Kings Langley, Little
Gaddesden, Long Marston, Markyate, Northchurch,
Potten End, Wilstone and Wigginton.
Where no bids for village properties have been made by
applicants with a village connection, the property will be
direct offered to a suitable household (without
consideration of village connection). In the event that
there is no suitable household to receive a direct offer,
the offer will extend to applicants living and/or working in
neighbouring parishes, before being opened up to the
wider applicant population.

5.0 Further Specific Criteria
6.0 Exemptions & Exceptions

6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions
Lettings that are not treated as allocations under this
scheme include:


5.3) Local Lettings Scheme
At DBC we reserve the right to implement local lettings
schemes for new developments or to address issues on
existing estates. These are used to ensure that communities
are sustainable and contain an appropriate mix of
households.





5.4) Supported Housing & Flexi Care

Page 17

Supported housing properties are designed for people aged
60 and over. Applicants below that age, who seek an
allocation of supported housing, will be required to
demonstrate a medical or social isolation need. These
applications will be assessed by the internal housing panel.
Supported housing residents benefit from a Supported
Housing Officer who can offer differing levels of support as
required and/or requested, as well as opportunities to
socialise with other residents in their supported housing
scheme.
The majority of our supported housing homes are one
bedroom, however on occasion a two-bedroom property
may become available. In these cases, the allocation of this
property will be considered on a case-by-case basis,
specifically taking into account the age of any additional
household members living with the successful applicant and
how this could impact the wider scheme.
We can also offer Flexi Care supported housing services for
older people whose needs are beyond the provision
available within traditional supported housing.



Mutual exchanges between tenants of the council or
housing associations, whether by Deed of Assignment
or by commencement of new tenancies (including
those arranged via national schemes such as
Homeswapper);
Successions of a tenancy following the death of a
tenant;
Where an introductory tenancy, assured shorthold
starter, or probationary tenancy becomes an assured or
secure tenancy;
Where a secure or assured tenancy is granted by court
order under Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, Matrimonial
and Family Proceedings Act 1984, or Children Act 1989;
or
Where a tenancy is demoted by court order or where a
demoted tenancy reverts back to secure tenancy status.

Other exemptions may include (but are not limited to):







A property allocated to a relative or carer of a
tenant who has died without a statutory right to
succession being present;
Changes to a tenancy which do not result in a
vacancy (e.g. joint to sole tenancy);
Where a vacancy is required to enable us to
discharge duty to statutorily homeless households;
The need to re-house an existing tenant
temporarily in order to carry out repairs; or
Any other exceptional circumstances agreed by the
Strategic Housing Team Leader and Strategic
Housing Group Manager.
A move agreed from a property with adaptations
that are no longer required in line with Help to
Move Policy.

In exceptional circumstances the Assistant Director of
Housing has authority to award additional priority to
applicants and to amend or dis-apply the qualification
criteria. All exceptions such as this will be monitored and
reported on to the Corporate Director of Housing and
Regeneration.
In the interest of fairness and good administration, such
awards, amendments and dis-applications will operate at
the sole and absolute discretion of the Assistant Director of
Housing and, DBC expects, will be both rare and few in
number.

Appendix 1
How we allocate points
Priority Category

Criteria within priority categories

People who are homeless

For all priority categories, applicants will only receive points for meeting one
level of criteria.
All people who are homeless (within the meaning of the Housing Act 1996,
Part 7), which includes people who are intentionally homeless and those who
are not in priority need. People with no fixed abode, rough sleepers and sofa
surfers.
People who are owed the full statutory duty by the housing authority under
the Housing Act, 1996, Part 7 (as referred to in the Homelessness Reduction
Act 2017 as the main housing duty).
Note: Only to be given at the point that the duty is awarded and not before
even if an applicant is considered likely to receive this.

Page 18

Condition of private sector property

Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities

Major disrepair – the property has a high level hazard assessed using the
HHSRS.
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health
Officer.
Or
Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.
Minor disrepair – the property has a lower level hazard assessed using the
HHSRS.
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health
Officer.

A household that does not have sole use of kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.
At Dacorum Borough Council we consider this to be in cases when applicants
are residing in:
-

Temporary accommodation which is not self-contained
Houses of multiple occupation
A household that is living with family or friends and has resided there
for a minimum of 12 months.

Points

10

Homelessness
Status

50

10

10

A household that is overcrowded.

Overcrowding

At Dacorum Borough Council, we consider overcrowding to occur when an
additional person does not have a bed-space, if one bedroom is allocated to
each:
- Married or co-habiting couple;
- Adult aged 16 years or more;
- Pair of children aged 0 – 15 years of the same sex; and
- Pair of children aged under 5 years regardless of sex.

15
(to be given for
each additional
personal lacking a
bed-space if
maximum use of
available bedspaces is assumed).

Page 19

A household choosing to downsize by one or more bedrooms because they are
currently under-occupying.

Under-occupation in Council or Housing
Association properties within Dacorum

Medical grounds

Page 20

Welfare grounds

Children in flats

Members of the armed forces

Under-occupation will occur when:
- A bedroom is unoccupied;
- The household contains two same-sex children aged 15 or under who
occupy separate bedrooms;
- The household contains any two children aged 9 or under who occupy
separate bedrooms.

45
(to be given for
each bedroom a
household is
choosing to
downsize by).

Extreme medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor
High medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor
Medium medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor
Low medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor

100
50
30
10

Extreme welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel
High welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel
Medium welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel
Low welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel

100
50
30
10

A household with one or more children aged 9 years or under in a flat (first
floor or above) where no lift is available.

10
(only to be given
once, regardless or
number of children
in household).

People who have:
- Formerly served in the regular forces (including those suffering injury,
illness or disability attributable to their service);
- Ceased entitlement to accommodation provided by the Ministry of
Defence following the death of their spouse or civil partner who served
in the regular forces (whose death was attributable to that service);
- Served in the reserve forces, suffering serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable to their service.

10

Sheltered housing moves

Pre-tenancy training

Existing tenants of sheltered housing in Dacorum who wish to move from
Category 1 to a Category 2 accommodation.
Or
An existing tenant aged 60 or over in general needs bedsit or one bedroom
accommodation in Dacorum who wishes to move into sheltered
accommodation.

People who have completed a pre-tenancy training course.
Note: Except in the case of a transfer tenant.

25

5

Page 21

Length of time on housing register

A single point to be given to people for each year they have been on the
housing register, up to five years.

1
(Up to a maximum
of 5 points).

Use and Occupation

Applicants that have been awarded points by Housing Panel in cases where
they are under ‘Use and Occupation’ and Dacorum Borough Council require
the property back

50

Hardship

Applicants who need to move within the Borough due to hardship as noted by
the Housing Panel.
Or
Applicants who have been awarded the ‘right to move’.

High risk groups

People from high-risk groups who meet hard-to-house or sensitive lettings
criteria, such as (this list is not exhaustive):
- Care leavers;
- Witness protection cases;
- Move-on from supported housing; or
- Individuals identified through multi-agency groups.

10

Direct offer or
points at the
discretion of the
Housing Panel.

Appendix 2
Applicant Criteria
How we categorise and allocate adapted properties
Low:
- Needs ground floor or property with lift access or a house
with shallow stairs;
- Needs a level access shower or shower with a seat;
- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;
- Parking close to entrance.

Property Criteria
Low:
- Ground floor property or property with lift access or a house
with shallow stairs;
- Property with a level access shower or shower with a seat;
- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;
- Parking guaranteed close to entrance.

Page 22

Medium:
- Needs ground floor property or a property with lift access or
a house with a stair lift;
- Needs a level access shower or wet room;
- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;
- Parking close to entrance.

Medium:
- Ground floor property or property with lift access or a house
with shallow stairs;
- Property with a level access shower or shower with a seat;
- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;
- Parking guaranteed close to entrance.

High:
- Needs ground floor or a property with a lift access wide
enough for a wheelchair or a house with a stair lift;
- Space within property for limited wheelchair use in the
entrance hall;
- Needs a level access shower or wet room;
- Needs a level access entrance;
- Parking close to entrance;
- Property on a flat road.

High:
- Ground floor or a property with a lift access wide enough for
a wheelchair or a house with a stair lift;
- Space within property for limited wheelchair use in the
entrance hall;
- Property with level access shower or wet room;
- Property accessible via a level-access entrance;
- Parking guaranteed close to entrance;
- Property on a flat road.

Links to other corporate
documents

This policy links to and should be read in
conjunction with the following policies and
strategies:



Page 23



Legislation

The legislation listed below will be taken into
consideration when implementing this policy:


Housing Act 1996, Part VI and part VII



Homelessness Act 2002



Housing Act 2004



Equality Act 2010



Localism Act 2011



Welfare Reform Act 2012



Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

Homelessness Strategy
Strategic Tenancy Policy



Mutual Exchange Policy



Help to move Policy

TLC Presentation
Proposed changes for the Housing Allocations Policy

Page 24

Paul Hunt & Taylor Burr
Housing Needs Team

Myth Busting

Page 25

•

Those with the highest priority gets housed

•

The Housing Register is a waiting list and you will eventually be housed

•

We can enforce downsizing

•

People have to make themselves homeless in order the meet the Local Connection
Criteria

•

Having a medical condition, automatically means medical points will be awarded

•

You need social or care needs to access Supported Housing

Consultation

Page 26

•

Currently, 8257 applicants have an active or suspended Housing Register
application.

•

5987 active applicants, however, only 1205 have placed a bid in the last 12 months.

•

306 submissions for the Housing Allocations Policy Consultation.

•

Majority of submissions felt that an applications should be suspended for 6 months if
an offer is turned down if there is not a valid reason.

•

Majority of submissions agreed that applicants should be removed from Housing
Register if no bid has been placed in last 12 months.

•

Other suggestions were consulted on such as, income thresholds and Local
Coonection.

Proposals

Page 27

•

Increase Supported Housing capital threshold

•

Introduce income thresholds

•

Removal of inactive applicants

•

Local and Village Connection reduced from 10 to 5 years.

•

Make tenancy sustainment training mandatory & removal of time points

•

Supported Housing applicants to have 3 refusals

•

Implementation of Prevention and Relief Points

Questions

Page 28

TLC Report – Housing Allocations Policy
Review

Report contact

Taylor Burr

Background

This report details the proposed changes that Strategic Housing
would like to implement to the current Housing Allocations policy
following a review carried out across the entire Housing Service.
This takes in to consideration a number of keys areas raised since
the last full policy review.

Consultation
(What consultation has taken
place or is planned)
Attached documents

-

Consultation has already taken place with different service
areas in Housing.
Consultation with TLC

The current Housing Allocations Policy

Requested action from the TLC in Please provide any comments to the proposed changes and any
order to complete commitment 2 suggestions that may benefit the new Housing Allocations Policy
from the Get Involved strategy.
‘Dacorum Borough Council works
in partnership to ensure the
housing service is shaped by the
needs of our tenants’
What would you like the outcome
of your attendance at TLC to be?)
Next steps
Following input from TLC, the report will be presented to the
Member Engagement Session on Tuesday 8th December.

Page 29

Housing Allocations Policy Review

November 1, 2020

2020

Housing Allocations
Policy Review

TAYLOR BURR

DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL 2020

Page 30

Housing Allocations Policy Review

November 1, 2020

Introduction
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, each local authority has the right to determine
their own Housing Allocations Policy. This allows local authorities to give “reasonable
preference” to certain categories of applicants, ensure that properties are allocated in a fair
and reasonable manner as well as being able to better manage our stock. The Allocations
Policy sets out the rules that Dacorum Borough Council must follow when letting our
properties. This also allows us to manage the unrealistic expectations of those applicants
who have little or no prospect of being allocated a property. It is a legal requirement that this
policy should be reviewed every 4 years to take ensure the current policy evolves with the
ever changing climate. This review takes in to consideration areas that have been identified
through complaints, service requests, repeated issues applicants have had to face and
areas that staff have highlighted for improvement.
What is an Allocation?

Definition of an ‘allocation’ as defined in ‘Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local
housing authorities in England’:
A housing authority allocates accommodation when it:

selects a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of accommodation held by
that authority

nominates a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of accommodation held
by another housing authority

nominates a person to be an assured tenant of accommodation held by a Private
Registered Provider
Dacorum’s Context
Dacorum Borough Council is one of the few stock holding local authorities in Hertfordshire.
Currently, applicants are able to place a bid on suitable properties for their housing need, via
the Choice Based Lettings scheme (CBL) on the website www.movingwithdacorum.org.uk.
Other applicants are given a direct offer when their needs are high or they have received a
positive homeless decision.
Currently we have 5882 active applicants registered for housing on our housing register. Of
these active applicants, their need by size of accommodation required is show below:
Accommodation Requirement
Applicants
1 Bed
5124
2 Bed
1703
3 Bed
793
4 Bed
170
5 Bed
36
Unknown*
33
*Unknown figure represents applications that are suspended pending further information and
an assessment of their household requirement has not yet taken place.

Page 31

Housing Allocations Policy Review

November 1, 2020

Approximately 2500 of these active applicants have very low need, with no physical or
mental impairments, overcrowding or other social/welfare issue. These households are in
the current position of sharing accommodation with family members and looking to have
their own home.
Additionally, there are 1978 applicants who have a suspended application, this can be for a
number of reasons, but examples are: rent arrears, fraud investigation or other enquiry
pending. These households still display some form of housing need.
A number of applicants require adapted accommodation to suit their specific need. Due to
the varying degree of adaptations required, we allocate these properties via our direct offer
list. There are approximately 50 households, with an Occupational Therapist report
indicating a need for adapted accommodation. At present, a large volume of our stock does
not lend itself to adaptations and this can often mean a lengthy wait until such
accommodation can be identified.
Below is an example of the surrounding boroughs housing registers compared to their
housing stock:
Local Authority
Dacorum
St Albans
Hatfield
Stevenage

Housing Stock
10,158
4898
9044
7871

Registered for housing
7859
651
2610
1970

Although we may hold the largest amount of housing stock, the ratio of eligible applicants to
stock is the lowest when compared to the other authorities in the area.
Challenges
The below sets out the biggest challenges Dacorum’s Housing service would like to tackle
when implementing the new policy.
1. Supported Housing
While we are trying to manage our general needs stock to ensure those most in need are
prioritised, we have seen a decline of interest in our supported housing properties.
Currently, with the demand for these properties being so low, we have seen an increase
in void times. This means we have many properties that are empty for long periods of
time. Empty properties mean we are not able to receive rent payments, resulting in a
significant loss of income for the council. It also increases the risk of potential vandalism
and break in’s when the public realise the property has been unoccupied for a long
period. It has led to Supported Housing properties being allocated to applicants under
the age of 60 to ensure that properties are let.
In total there are 1136 applicants aged over 60 on the register, with 823 of these
applicants being active. Of these 823 applicants, only 675 have indicated that they would
interested in accessing supported accommodation. This does not mean that they are the
only households who wish to access such accommodation, but they are the only
applicants who have explicitly confirmed this. An additional 132 applicants aged 50-59
have also registered an interest in supported accommodation.

Page 32

Housing Allocations Policy Review

November 1, 2020

In total, we hold 1906 supported properties. This can be broken down in to two
categories
Category 1 – 691 – Dispersed properties in the community such as bungalows
Category 2 – 1215 – Usually properties within a scheme.
It has been identified that a number of applicants trying to access these properties are
not eligible for housing under our current policy. Therefore, we need to consider options
that make it easier for those who may have an interest in moving to these types of
accommodation and to decrease the length of time that a property remains unoccupied
for.

2. Homelessness
Some applicants approach the council as they are at risk of becoming or are currently
homeless.
We currently have the following cases:


Prevention Stage - cases where the applicant is threatened with homelessness
and the team proactively work with applicants to prevent them from becoming
homeless, eg, a landlord is selling the property and has given notice for the
tenant to leave, parental eviction – 115 cases



Relief Stage – cases where an applicant is already homeless, or has become
homeless as the prevention stage was not successful, the team work with the
applicant and other external/internal agencies in order to relieve the applicants
homelessness, e.g., providing financial assistance with the use of the Homeless
Prevention Fund and the housing register – 155 cases

Although not all of these are eligible to be active on the allocations register, the majority
are. Whilst we do not want to make it desirable to make a homeless application, we do
need to recognise that these are genuine cases of potential and actual homelessness.
This is an opportunity to utilise the housing register as a prevention and relief tool for the
Homeless Prevention team. Priority should be given to these cases over other
households where there is no identified risk if they were to remain in their current
circumstances. This should also relieve some of the additional pressures the
homelessness team face when it comes to sourcing Temporary Accommodation and
having to make investigations in to homeless applications.

3. Eligible applicants not actively bidding
Around 2200 active applicants have not placed a bid in the last 12 months, which may
indicate that they are not ready to move and are on the register as a safeguard. We want
to ensure that people should only register if they are serious about moving. Whilst they
are not bidding, they are still able to accumulate “Time on register” points up to 5 years.
This means an applicant who was not actively bidding could take priority over someone
who has only recently registered and doing everything that they can to better their
circumstances. The removal of time on register points and applicants who have not
placed a bid in the last 12 months, would encourage active bidding and allow natural
movement within our own housing stock

Page 33

Housing Allocations Policy Review

November 1, 2020

4. The weight of points
Our current policy sets out the amount of points an applicant is entitled to, dependant on
their circumstances. Applicants can be awarded points for more than one of these
circumstances and when combined these points can determine where an applicant sits
on a shortlist for a property. Upon reviewing the policy, it was highlighted that these
points were not truly reflective of the priority each circumstance warranted.
For example; an applicant could be downsizing by 1 bedroom and have registered 5
years ago. This application would be assessed and awarded 50 points on the register.
However, an applicant that lived in a 1 bedroom flat, above first floor without a lift and
was lacking a bed space due to sharing a bedroom with their child would only be eligible
for 25 points.
5. Management of expectations
There is often the perception in Dacorum that some people should be entitled to social
housing. Unfortunately, this is not feasible given the numbers on the register and the
number of social housing properties available. We are in a position where there is a
significant number of applicants on the register, who are unlikely to ever be successful.
By removing sharing points, removing non-active applicants and reviewing the level of
points awarded based on priority, we are able to manage the expectations of those who
are unlikely to be eligible and should be able to find their own alternative when sourcing
accommodation. Introducing tiered income thresholds dependant on household size,
would also allow us to manage how many people were eligible for social housing. This
would not only create a more realistic register, but also would help increase the interest
in the private rented sector and even encourage home ownership.

Proposed Changes to current policy
The spreadsheet below holds our proposed changes to the current policy after consultation
with the wider housing service. We recognise that not all of these will be implemented in to
the new policy, but we felt it important to get feedback on all ideas that may help us achieve
the goal of a more robust Allocations Policy that gives priority to those most in need of social
housing.

Proposed Housing
Allocation Changes Nov 2020.xlsx

Next Steps
We welcome any comments and questions on this report and will look to incorporate all
feedback in to the report that will be presented to members on Tuesday 8th December.

Page 34

Member Development Session
Overview of Housing Allocations Policy

Page 35
Natasha Beresford, Paul Hunt, Taylor Burr & Laura Brennan
08/12/2020

Strategic position

Page 36

•

Statutory responsibility to deliver allocations functionality

•

Current Housing Allocations Policy – Appendix A

•

Prevention of homelessness

•

Building sustainable communities

•

Engagement with Registered Providers- Appendix B

•

Liaison with Strategic planning teams

Myth Busting

Page 37

•

Those with the highest priority gets housed

•

The Housing Register is a waiting list and you will eventually be housed

•

We can enforce downsizing

•

People have to make themselves homeless in order the meet the Local Connection
Criteria

•

Having a medical condition, automatically means medical points will be awarded

•

You need social or care needs to access Supported Housing

Areas of Challenge

Page 38

•

Supported Housing Demand- Report at Appendix C & D

•

Managing Expectations- Appendix E

•

Increase of Homelessness Approaches

•

Direct Offers & Adaptations

•

Village lets

Proposals

Page 39

•

Report went to Tenants & Leaseholder Comity- Appendix F & G

•

Increase Supported Housing capital threshold- Appendix H

•

Introduce assisted bidding

•

Introduce income thresholds- Appendix I

•

Removal of inactive applicants

•

Review weighting of points

•

Consider reducing/ changing village local connection

•

Make tenancy sustainment training mandatory & removal of time points

What next?

Page 40

•

Full stakeholder engagement & consultation

•

Draft policy review April - May 2021

•

Tenant Leaseholder Committee

•

H&COSC June 2021

•

Cabinet approval July 2021

•

Policy implementation August – September 2021

•

Introduction of Registered Provider charging October 2021

Appendix E
•

Waiting List

Dacorum

Page 41

St Albans

Hatfield

Stevenage

Waiting List 7859

651

2610

1970

1 Bed

5124

209

1409

1168

2 Bed

1703

220

727

354

3 Bed

793

199

410

350

4 Bed +

239

23

64

98

Dacorum

St Albans

Hatfield

Stevenage

10158

4898

9044

7871

Stock

Back

Appendix H

Supported Housing Info
1906 Supported Housing Properties
Page 42

691 CAT 1- Community properties
1215 CAT 2- Indoor & Outdoor Schemes
1136 Applicants over the age of 60 on the Housing Register
823 are active
675 of the 823 have stated that would like to move into SH.

Back

Appendix I
•

Income thresholds

Watford

Stevenage

£60,000- Household

£70,000- Household

No Maximum income

Page 43

Dacorum

St. Albans

Welwyn & Hatfield

1 bed- £35,469- Household

1 bed- £40,000- Household

2 bed- £40,351- Household

1 bed (Couple) - £45,000- Household

3 bed- £51,455- Household

2 bed- £55,000- Household

4 bed- £61,620- Household

3 bed- £73,000- Household
4 bed- £105,000- Household

Back

Consultation Results306 people participated in the consultation. The majority was made up of 81 Homeowners and 79
council tenants.

241 of those had read the housing allocations policy and of those, 201 were clear on what points
they were eligible for.

Over a 3rd were somewhat satisfied with the standard of adverts available on the website, with 106
participants choosing this option. Only 14 were very dissatisfied.
Should an applicant refuse a property with no valid reason, do you feel their account should be
suspended for 6 months?

128 felt that an applicant should be suspended for not proving a valid reason when turning down a
property, these people felt that it’s not a chance to be picky and if were in need of housing would
accept what was given to them.
78 felt that an applicant should not be suspended for 6 months, they felt it should be either reduced
or have 3 offers as previous policy has allowed. There was a regular theme for questioning what is
considered a valid reason as this is subjective.
100 had no opinion and made no comment.

Page 44

Do you think it is reasonable to be removed from the housing register if an applicant has not
placed a bid in the last 12 months and there have been suitable properties available?

133 people felt that it was reasonable to remove these applicants and felt that these people were
again not in great need of rehousing and were wasting time.
90 participants feel that this is not fair as they may want a property in a certain area and this may
not be available for some time. Wanted clarification on was deemed a suitable property.
83 had no opinion and made no comment.
Other local boroughs have tiered income thresholds in their allocation policy. Currently, in our
policy every household size can earn up to the same amount of £60000, annually. Do you think
that this is fair?

73 people felt that a tiered income approach was fair as this would allow lower income households
to be rehoused over those who could afford to privately rent or own their home.
86 people did not agree with this stating that an annual income of £60,000 is still not enough to be
able to get a mortgage.
147 had no opinion.
For a single household (one adult), which income threshold do you think should apply?

Page 45

The top 3 consisted of the following breakdown:




115 for £30,000
99 for that it should remain the same (£60,000)
54 for £40,000

Following on from the previous question, which income threshold should apply for a family who
require a 4 bedroom property?

The top 3 consisted of the following breakdown:




138 for that it should remain the same (£60,000)
64 for £50,000
55 for £65,000

Currently the local connection criteria to be eligible to be active on the Housing Register is: A 10
year residency within the borough at some point in their lifetime; Family connection where an
immediate family member (parents, children, siblings) has continuously been a resident within the
borough for 10 years immediately preceding the date of application; Currently in permanent
employment within the borough boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or more, and which has
been continuous for the last 24 months. Do you think 10 years is fair?

201 participants were happy with our local connection criteria.
65 were not and the average suggested timeframe was 5 years
40 had no opinion.

Page 46

Additional local connection criteria apply to certain villages within the borough and applicants
with a connection to the specified village are given priority at the shortlisting stage. The eligibility
for Village connect is: A 10 year residency within the village at some point in their lifetime; Family
connection where an immediate family member (parents, children, siblings) has continuously been
a resident within the village for 10 years immediately preceding the date of application; Currently
in permanent employment within the village boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or more,
and which has been continuous for the last 24 months. Do you think 10 years is fair?

181 were happy with our village local connection critiera.
79 were not and the average suggested timeframe was 5 years
46 had no opinion.
Supported Housing is designed for applicants 60 and above. What are your views on Supported
Housing?
The majority of the comments felt positive towards supported housing but were not currently
eligible for it. There were mix views on the ages with some feeling as if there were more under 60’s
being housed in the schemes and that is not what they had originally signed up for. However, there
were also the view that the age should be lowered to 40 in some cases as some people required
support at younger ages.
Do you think it is easy to access Supported Housing accommodation for over 60's?
Do you think it is easy to access Supported Housing accommodation for over 60's?

199 participants had no opinion on this question.
58 felt that it was easy to access
49 felt that it wasn’t easy to access

Page 47

Do you have ideas that will positively impact the Allocations Policy? (Please do not add comments
about your own personal application as it will not be actioned as part of this consultation).
The majority of participants had no further comment. Looking at the general theme of the
suggestions that were made, people felt more should be done to encourage tenants to downsize as
they are aware there are a lot of people living in houses that are too large for them.
Comments were also made about the lack of adaptable and 4 bedroom properties. The current
policy allows additional bed spaces that then requires larger bedroom properties and our current
stock does not reflect this.
Some comments were made on the ability to manipulate the homeless process and that the policy
already leans towards assisting this.

Page 48

Other Hertfordshire Local Authorities Income and Local Connection Criteria + Housing Stock-

Broxbourne
Income Criteria
Local Connection
Stock Owned

Blanket £60,000
5 Years
No or very few stock owned properties

East Herts
Income Criteria
Local Connection
Stock Owned

Blanket £48,000
12 Months
No stock owned properties

North Herts
Income Criteria
Local Connection
Stock Owned

Blanket £60,000
last 12 months or 3 out of 5 years
No stock owned properties

Stevenage
Income Criteria

Local Connection
Stock Owned

Hertsmere
Income Criteria

Local Connection
Stock Owned

No Maximum- financial assessment competed
to determine if applicants can afford alternative
accommodation.
5 out of last 7 years
Just under 8000 stock owned properties

No Maximum- financial assessment competed
to determine if applicants can afford alternative
accommodation.
3 years
No stock owned properties

Watford

Page 49

Income Criteria
Local Connection
Stock Owned

Three Rivers
Income Criteria
Local Connection
Stock Owned

St Albans
Income Criteria

Local Connection
Stock Owned

Welwyn & Hatfield
Income Criteria

Local Connection
Stock Owned

Blanket £70,000
Live in local area
No stock owned properties

£35,000 and over will trigger a financial
assessment.
5 years
No stock owned properties

1 Bed Property £36,295
2 Bed Property £48,173
3 Bed Property £56,152
4 Bed Property £69,608
3 years
under 4900 properties

1 Bed Property £40,000
1 Bed Property (couple) £45,000
2 Bed Property £55,000
3 Bed Property £73,000
4 Bed Property £105,000
demonstrate a LC
Just over 9000 stock

Page 50

Property size Village

Number of bids

New Build Properties 5 Talbot Close
4 Talbot Close
3 Talbot Close
2 Talbot Close
1 Talbot Close

2 Bed House
2 Bed House
2 Bed House
2 Bed House
2 Bed House

Bovingdon
Bovingdon
Bovingdon
Bovingdon
Bovingdon

75
77
72
74
80

Rucklers Lane
Rucklers Lane
Rucklers Lane
Rucklers Lane

2 Bed House
2 Bed House
2 Bed House
2 Bed House

Kings Langley
Kings Langley
Kings Langley
Kings Langley

87
87
86
91

General Needs

1 Binghams Mews 2 Bed House Gaddesden Row
2 Bingham Mews 2 Bed House Gaddesden Row
3 Bingham Mews 2 Bed House Gaddesden Row

111
114
112

56 Stocks Road
1 Bed House Aldbury
53 Trooper Road 2 Bed House Aldbury
30 Malting Lane
3 Bed House Aldbury
5A Old Dean
2 Bed Flat
Bovingdon
9 Old Dean
2 Bed Flat
Bovingdon
32 Hyde Meadows 3 Bed House Bovingdon
3 Boundary Cottages2 Bed House Bovingdon
8 Chesham Road 2 Bed House Bovingdon
30 Hyde Meadows 3 Bed House Bovingdon
29a Old Dean
1 Bed flat
Bovingdon
4 Nunfield
3 Bed House Chipperfield
121 Rucklers lane 3 Bed House Kings Langley
18 Great Park
2 Bed Flat
Kings Langley
98 Rucklers Lane 3 Bed House Kings Langley
1a Beechfield
2 Bed House Kings Langley
67 Blackwell Road 3 Bed House Kings Langley
151 Rucklers Lane 2 Bed House Kings Langley
51 Coniston Road 2 Bed House Kings Langley
15 Cromer Close 3 Bed House Little Gaddesden
21 Bromley
2 Bed Bungalow
Long Marston
65 Parkfield
2 Bed House Markyate
44 Roman Way
3 Bed House Markyate
19 Humbers
1 Bed flat
Markyate
50 Cavendish Road 3 Bed House Markyate
3A Park Close
1 bed flat
Markyate
63 Parkfield
2 Bed House Markyate
51 Durrants Lane 2 Bed House Northchurch
1 Common Field 1 bed Bungalow
Wigginton
5 Pollywick Road 3 Bed House Wigginton
11 Grymsdke Road 1 bed Flat
Wigginton
20 Grange Road
3 Bed House Wilstone
3 Dixons Wharf
2 Bed Flat
Wilstone

109
86
89
18
74
102
82
0
103
116
0
83
86
111
52
0
145
0
103
69
98
69
124
69
142
85
90
4
81
109
79
0

Page 51

Supported Housing

17 Dudley House
29 Dudley House
10 Havensfield
6 Havensfield
15 Havensfield
5A Singlets Lane
10 Great Park
9 Willow Edge
6 Willow Edge
5 Bede Court
14 Chapel Close
6 Bede Court
8 Bede Court
15 Bromley
20 Bromley
52 George Street
17 Compass Point
17 Homefield

1 Bed Flat
Bovingdon
1 Bed Flat
Bovingdon
1 Bed flat
Chipperfield
1 Bed flat
Chipperfield
1 Bed Flat
Chipperfield
1 Bed Flat
Flamsted
1 bed Bungalow
Kings Langley
1 Bed flat
Kings Langley
1 Bed Flat
Kings Langley
1 bed Bungalow
Little Gaddesden
1 Bed Bungalow
Little Gaddesden
1 bed Bungalow
Little Gaddesden
1 bed Bungalow
Little Gaddesden
1 bed Bungalow
Long Marston
2 Bed Bungalow
Long Marston
1 Bed Flat
Markyate
1 Bed flat
Northchurch
1 Bed flat
Potten End

Page 52

1
1
3
3
1
1
10
2
0
5
7
4
7
5
2
1
2
2

Points of succesful applicant Did they have VC?

If not, where was their previous area?

30
15
30
30
32

No
No
No
No
No

Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
Watford (does have LC to Dacorum)
Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead

21
25
27
11

No
No
No
Yes

Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead

45 No
34 No
15 Yes
100
17
55
25
30
16
31
Direct Offer
55
10
Direct Offer
25
15
16
26
Direct Offer
30
Direct Offer
26
41
32
50
25
16
13
41
90
10
50
60
27
Direct Offer

Hemel Hempstead
Leeds (Does have LC to Dacorum)

No
Yes
VC to a neighbouring Village
No
No
Yes
No
No
No
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
No
Yes
VC to a neighbouring Village

Hemel Hempstead

Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
Bovingdon
Hemel Hempstead

Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead

Tring
Hemel Hempstead

Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
St Albans

Page 53

60
10
10
90
50
12
50
15
Direct Offer
31
25
56
91
20
35
10
104
15

No
No
No
No
No
Yes
Yes
No
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

Hemel Hempstead
Cornwall
Welwyn Garden City
Chipperfield
St Albans

Hemel Hempstead
Markyate
Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead
Little Gaddesden
Hemel Hempstead
Northchurch
Watford- has LC to Dacorum
Berkhamsted
Berkhamsted

Page 54

Notes

Offered as applicant had 9 year VC

2 out of 12 new build propert
Talbot Close & Rucklers Lane

Highest applicant had without VC had 100 points

Highest applicant had without VC had 55 points
Fleeing DV
Didn’t have the 10 year VC but had the highest amount of points
Highest applicant had without VC had 50 points
Panel Report for agreed VC exemption
Highest applicant had without VC had 67 points
Highest applicant had without VC had 41 points
Highest applicant had without VC had 75 points
Adapated Property
Fleeing DV
Hightest applicant who placed a bid without VC had 56 points
Highest Applicant who placed a bid without VC had 60 points
Highest applicant had without VC had 35 points
Highest applicant had without VC had 50 points
Highest applicant had without VC had 75 points

Applicant top of the short list had 55 points but was skipped because of VC

Page 55

32 General Needs properties
13 were allocated to applican
2 were allocated with VC to a
17 were allocated to applican

Didn’t have the 10 year VC but had the highest amount of points

18 Supported Housing Proper
3 with a VC
15 with no VC

Also had the highest amount of points

Didn’t have the 10 year VC but had the highest amount of points

Page 56

2 out of 12 new build properties in villages went to applicants with a VC
Talbot Close & Rucklers Lane were Watford CHT

32 General Needs properties let.
13 were allocated to applicants with VC
2 were allocated with VC to a neighbouring village
17 were allocated to applicants with no VC

Page 57

18 Supported Housing Properties let
3 with a VC
15 with no VC

Page 58

Page 59

Housing Allocations Policy
Last reviewed September 2021

Contents

1.0 Policy overview
1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5

Introduction
Aim(s) of the Policy
Links to the Council’s Corporate Aims
Equality and Diversity
Policy Statement

Page 60

2.0 Eligibility and Qualification
2.1
Age
2.2
Local Connection
2.3
Right to Move
2.4
Home Ownership
2.5
Financial Means
2.6
Anti-social Behaviour
2.7
Rent Arrears
2.8
Deliberately Worsened Circumstances
2.9
False, Misleading or Withheld Information
2.10
The Household
3.0 Administration of the Housing Register
3.1
Bidding
3.2
Property Adverts
3.3
Direct Offers
3.4
Checks and Assessments
3.5
Renewal and Removal
3.6
Review and Appeal
3.7
Disclosure of Information and Conflicts of Interest
3.8
Supported Housing and Flexi Care

4.0 Points and Additional Priority
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10

People who are Homeless
Unsanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory
Housing
Medical and Welfare
Moving due to Hardship
Armed Forces
Right to Move
Other Additional Priority Criteria
Move On Accommodation for Young People
and Care Leavers
Domestic Abuse
Bedroom Standard

5.0 Further Specific Criteria
5.1
Adapted Properties
5.2
Village Lettings
5.3
Local Lettings Scheme
5.4
Supported Housing and Flexi Care
6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions
6.1
Use and Occupation
6.2
Ending your Tenancy
7.0 Data Protection

1.0 Allocations policy
overview
This policy will be reviewed annually

1.1 Introduction
Dacorum Borough Council is committed to allocating
all social and affordable housing within the borough
to those in most need, and ensuring people have the
best possible chance of sustaining their tenancy. This
Housing Allocations Policy sets out how we prioritise
applications for council and housing association
homes based on a person’s circumstances and level
of housing need.

Page 61

To deliver this, we manage a choice based lettings
system in Dacorum, and households wanting to
apply to be on the council’s housing register will
need to complete an online application form at
Moving with Dacorum. Support is available to those
applicants who are unable to submit their
application online, either by booking an
appointment for the Customer Service Unit at The
Forum or by requesting a paper application.
Applications are usually assessed within 4-6 weeks.
Whilst Moving with Dacorum advertises all social
and the majority of affordable housing options, each
housing association within the borough may have its
own allocations policy, which may have different
rules about who is eligible. These policies should be
available on their websites or by contacting the
housing association directly.
Many people who apply for housing will never be
allocated a property by the council because of the
shortage of social housing in the borough. Even if
you have a high housing need, it is likely that you will
have to wait for a considerable time before you are
offered a property.

The council is required to respond to any local or national
restrictions imposed by central government. The
administration of this and other council policies could,
therefore, be impacted by a pandemic or other emergency
for the period that such restrictions are in operation.

1.2 Aim(s) of the policy
Discharge the council’s statutory duties as contained in Part
6 of the Housing Act 1996, as amended by the
Homelessness Act 2002, Civil Partnership Act 2004, Housing
and Regeneration Act 2008, Localism Act 2011 and the
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.
The aims of this policy are to:










Ensure we allocate homes appropriately and fairly to
those in need;
Ensure that the allocations and assessment policy is
transparent, simple, and easy to understand for all;
Offer as much choice as possible to customers, to create
genuine customer choice and empowerment;
Help increase the housing options for homelessness
applicants;
Prioritise households that have been assessed to be in
most need and to those who make a positive
contribution to our community;
Ensure we make best use of local housing stock;
To reduce the time properties are empty between
lettings;
Create strong, mixed and sustainable communities, and;
Set out our approach to eligibility for and qualification
to the council’s housing register.

1.0 Allocations policy
overview (continued)

1.3 Links to the council’s
corporate aims
This policy supports the council’s corporate priorities
of providing good quality affordable homes, in
particular for those most in need; and building
strong and vibrant communities. Our corporate
priorities are set out in the Corporate Plan 2020 2025.

1.5 Policy Statement(s)


Applicants will need to meet eligibility and any
applicable qualification requirements in order to
be active on the housing register (see 2.0).



We will administer the housing register and
allocate homes by adhering to a fair and
transparent process (see 3.0).



Points will be awarded to applicants based on
their housing need and priority group status (see
4.0).



We will offer additional priority to applicants
who fit specialist criteria (see 5.0).



There are a number of exemptions and
exceptions to the guidelines laid out in this
policy (see 6.0).

1.4 Equality and diversity

Page 62

All applicants will be invited to provide details of
ethnic origin, sexuality, disability and other
equalities information. Provision of this information
will not be obligatory or a requirement for
acceptance of an application. Such information
however will help the Council monitor the number
and types of applicants with protected
characteristics seeking housing and their position
under the policy, and therefore applicants will be
encouraged to supply the relevant information to be
used for this purpose.
Equalities data will be kept and monitored on a
regular basis to ensure properties are being
allocated fairly. This policy itself will be monitored to
ensure it does not operate in ways that discriminate
against, or unfairly disadvantage, any particular
group.
The Council will seek to ensure that this policy is
operated in a manner that is fair to all sections of the
community. The information provided will be kept
confidential and treated with respect at all times.

2.0 Eligibility and
Qualification

2.0 Eligibility and Qualification
As a local authority, we must adhere to all legal
requirements that affect whom we allocate social and
affordable housing to. We are required to consider an
applicant’s eligibility at the time of their initial
application and again when they have been successful
in bidding for a property in order to allocate them a
home. If an applicant is found not eligible at any time
during this process, the allocation cannot continue
and neither a sole nor a joint tenancy can be granted.

criteria do not apply to applicants to whom a
‘reasonable preference’ must be given under the
Housing Act 1996 and Regulations made by the
Secretary of State.
Reasonable preference categories:



Under this policy, an applicant is not eligible if:



Page 63

They are subject to immigration control (unless
covered under the exceptions stated at section
160ZA(2) of the Housing Act 1996).
They are prescribed as being ‘persons from
abroad’ other than a person subject to
immigration control as defined by regulations
made under section 160ZA(4) of the Housing Act
1996.

If you have any doubts as to whether or not you are
“eligible” to apply join the register please do not
hesitate to contact us for advice and guidance.
Where an applicant lacks capacity, the housing service
will liaise with the relevant appointed representative
to ensure that their housing needs are fully assessed
and, where appropriate, arrangements are made to
meet future accommodation needs. This may include
liaison with alternative housing agencies to provide
specialist packages of support.
In addition to eligibility, applicants must also meet the
criteria outlined at 2.1 to 2.10 in order to qualify for
the housing register and bid on homes. Eligible but
non-qualifying applicants will not receive a sole
tenancy under this policy; however, they will be able
to enter into a joint tenancy as long as the other
applicant is both eligible and qualifying. The qualifying





People who are homeless as defined by the Housing
Act 1996, Part 7;
People who are owed a duty by any local housing
authority under section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) (or
under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act
1985), or who are occupying accommodation
secured by any such authority under section 192(3);
People occupying insanitary or overcrowded
housing, or who are otherwise living in
unsatisfactory conditions;
People who need to move on medical or welfare
grounds (including any grounds relevant to a
disability); and
People who need to move to a particular locality in
the district of the Council, where failure to meet
that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to
others).

2.1 Age
Applicants must be 18 or over, unless age 16 or 17 and
are either entitled to a reasonable preference under
Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 or are otherwise
considered as part of a high risk property group (see
4.0).

2.0 Eligibility and
Qualification (continued)

These are as follows:





2.2 Local Connection
Subject to the exceptions outlined below, applicants
must meet the local connection criteria by providing
evidence of at least one of the following:






Page 64



A 10 year residency within the borough at some
point in their lifetime;
Family connection where an immediate family
member (parents, children, siblings) who are over
the age of 18 and has continuously been a resident
within the borough for 10 years immediately
preceding the date of application;
Currently in permanent employment within the
borough boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or
more, and which has been continuous for the last 24
months. Applicants that are home working must
provide evidence that their main workplace is in
based in Dacorum. The employment must be based
on actual place of work and not based on where the
head/ regional office is based.
Additional local connection criteria apply to certain
villages within the borough; applicants will need to
meet criteria above for the specific village and
applicants with a connection to the specified village
are given priority at the short listing stage (see 5.2).
There are, however, a number of circumstances
which mean that an applicant may not need to meet
the local connection criteria in order to qualify.







Current council or housing association resident living
within the borough;
Applicants for sheltered housing aged 60 and over
or between 50 – 59 when there is a medical or social
isolation need, recognised by the internal Housing
Panel;
Members of the armed forces where the application
is made within five years of discharge (includes
bereaved spouses and civil partners leaving service
family accommodation following the death of their
partner);
Existing social housing tenants seeking to transfer
from another local authority district in England
because they work in the district, need to avoid
hardship or need to move to take up an offer of
work in the area (see below ‘Right to Move’)
Where the requirement of a local connection may
infringe equality and diversity legislation (e.g.
Equality Act 2010) considered on a case-by-case
basis by the Housing Panel; or
Residents living in refuges within the Dacorum area.

2.3 Right to Move
Applicants applying for housing within Dacorum from
another local authority due to an offer of work within
the borough must demonstrate a genuine intention to
take up the offer. Evidence can include a contract of
employment, wage slips or bank statements, tax/benefit
information and a formal offer letter.
Any contracts must be for more than 12 months,
consisting of 16 hours or more a week. Voluntary work
does not qualify for the Right to Move.
We must also be satisfied that the required move is
based on applicants’ needs, rather than wishes.

Things considered when assessing this include (but are
not limited to):





Distance / time to travel between work and home;
Opportunities available closer to home;
Impact on opportunity to improve employment
circumstances (e.g. promotion);
Availability and affordability of transport.

The council may contact the employer to verify an
application at the point of joining the housing register or
before making an offer.

2.4 Home Ownership
Applicants must not hold a legal or beneficial interest in
a property within the UK and/or internationally. This
does not apply to supported housing applicants aged 60
or over. However, if a supported housing applicant has
sufficient means (including financial interest in a
property) to purchase suitable accommodation for their
needs in the Dacorum area they may not qualify for an
allocation. If exceptional circumstances preclude this
from happening they may still be eligible for supported
housing. Such cases will be looked at on a case by case
basis. An applicant will need to evidence a housing need
to move into Supported Housing if they hold a legal
interest in a property (see Appendix 1 for how the
council allocates points on a housing need).

2.0 Eligibility and
2.0
Eligibility and
Qualification

Qualification (continued)

2.5 Financial Means

Page 65

Applicants will not qualify if they have the financial
means to meet their own housing need. We define this
as the applicant and/or their partner having in excess of
the gross annual income limits which are set out below,
or £16,000 in savings (except where a lump sum has
been paid to a current or former member of the armed
forces as compensation).
1 Bedroom/studio Property £40,000
2 Bedroom Property £50,000
3 Bedroom Property £60,000
4 Bedroom Property £60,000
Supported Housing applicants over the age of 60 will be
exempt from this criteria.
These income thresholds have been based on a housing
affordability model completed by an external
consultant.

2.6 Unacceptable Behaviour
Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that
serious action or legal proceedings have successfully
been brought against the applicant or any member of
their household due to unacceptable behaviour,
including breaches of tenancy and misuse of social
housing (such as sub-letting), within the two years
immediately preceding the date of application.
Applicants with any of the below legal orders will not be
considered to qualify and will be unable to access the
housing register for a period of one, three or five years
(see below). The serious action or legal proceedings
include but are not limited to:
 Acceptable Behaviour Agreements (one year
exclusion from the register);
 Community Protection Notices (one year);
 Legal Undertakings (three years);
 Anti-Social Behaviour Injunctions (three years);
 Premises Closure Orders (five years); or
 Criminal Behaviour Orders (five years);
 Current Non-molestation order/ Occupation order
(one year);
 Current Restraining order (five years).
In addition, applicants will also not qualify if they or any
members of their household:
 Have an existing notice (such as a notice seeking
possession, section 21 notice requiring possession
or notice to quit) or a possession order.
 Have been evicted on the grounds of unacceptable
behaviour in the five years immediately preceding
the application;
 Have held a demoted tenancy due to unacceptable
behaviour in the two years immediately preceding
the application;



Are a person known to be or have been involved with
serious unacceptable behaviour within the two years
immediately preceding the application, as per the
advice of the council’s Tenancy Management and
Enforcement team or Community Safety team.

Any household can be removed from the register for
unacceptable behaviour.

2.7 Rent Arrears
Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that
they or a member of the household has property-related
arrears owed to the council (including Council Tax and
service charges), a housing association or a private
rented sector landlord, unless six months of an agreed
repayment plan have been adhered to. This includes both
current and former arrears. Applicants will also not
qualify if they or any member of their household:



Have been evicted on the grounds of rent arrears
from a council or housing association property in the
five years immediately preceding the application; or
There is an existing notice or a possession order on
the property.

Exceptions may be made in certain circumstances, e.g. a
current tenant downsizing to make rent payments more
manageable, which will be considered at the discretion of
the internal Housing Panel. When exceptions are made,
and an applicant with arrears owing to the council is
permitted to move, any debt owed will still be required
to be paid.

2.0 Eligibility
Eligibility and
2.0
and
Qualification
Qualification (continued)

2.9 False, Misleading or
Withheld Information
Applicants will not qualify if they have deliberately
provided fraudulent information by:




2.8 Deliberately Worsened
Circumstances
Page 66

An applicant will not qualify if there is evidence that they
have deliberately changed their circumstances in order to
qualify to and/or receive additional priority on the housing
register.
This may include but is not limited to:





Homeowners who have transferred their property to
another family member within the last five years from
the date of application.
An applicant moving from accommodation that was
available for their occupation that was suitable or
more suitable for them than the accommodation they
have moved into and which it was reasonable for
them to continue to occupy.
Applicants who have disposed of or deprived
themselves of assets which reasonably could have
been used to secure housing within the last three
years from the date of application.

Giving false information;
Not disclosing all information required; or
Not informing the housing service of any
important changes to their situation.

If an applicant is found to have provided any false or
misleading information or they have withheld
information that is relevant to their housing
application, their current and any future applications
will be suspended. Action may also be taken against
the applicant by the corporate anti-fraud team. This
may result in prosecution.
It is an offence (under Section 171, Housing Act
1996), for an applicant to knowingly or recklessly
provide the council with information that is
materially false or deliberately withhold or
misrepresent their housing circumstances.
Applicants who have sourced accommodation via the
council that have provided false, misleading or
withheld information during the Housing Register
process will be subject to eviction proceedings and
the council will support other landlords who are
seeking to gain possession of accommodation
through an applicant providing false or withholding
information.

2.10 The Household
As part of the application, applicants will be required to
prove they have lived at their current address for a
minimum of 12 months immediately before application
and give details of all members of their household.
Any non-dependant children (aged 18 or over), or other
adults who are considered part of the applicant’s
household, must have lived with the applicant for a
minimum of 12 months and continue to do so. Any
changes to the household may affect the level of priority
afforded to them under the qualification criteria.
Household members over the age of 18 that can be
considered as part of your household:




Partner
Child over the age of 18
Carer (medical evidence and support package
will need to be submitted)

Household members over the age of 18 that do not fall
into one of the above categories will not be considered
for an additional bedroom or awarded lacking bed space
points.
Subject to a review of supporting evidence by the
council’s independent medical advisor, dependant adults
who have joined or wish to join a household because
they are unable to live independently are not required to
have lived with the applicant for the minimum of 12
months.
(Continued on the next page)

2.0 Eligibility and
Qualification (continued)

If an applicant holds responsibility for residency of a child
through a court decision, the child is immediately
considered part of the household.

Page 67

Residency arrangements agreed by parents require the
applicant to provide supporting evidence of the
arrangement, including evidence that the child has been
living as part of their household for a minimum of six
months and any documents required by Housing Benefit
to support this claim.
Any child residency arrangements submitted as part of a
housing application will be checked throughout the
application process and the period of the tenancy.
A child is not part of the household if:



The applicant has staying contact with the child for
less than 50% of the time; or
In the case of equal contact time, the property will
not be the child’s main or principal home.

A baby will be considered a household member from the
date of birth, and not during the pregnancy.
However, some housing associations will consider an
unborn baby as a household member at the point that
the mother receives her MATB1 certificate. For this
reason, the council will still take a record of the MATB1
and in these cases an applicant may be able to bid for
larger housing association properties before the birth.

Where the applicant is eligible (see 2.0) but other members
of the household are not eligible, they may be considered as
part of the application if they are dependant. This applies to
both adults and children.
Applicants applying as part of a couple will need to decide
who is the primary applicant, as both partners will be
considered as members of the household and will not be
able to hold an active application in both names. These
applications are assessed on the primary applicant’s
housing need only.
All applicants can be subject to a home verification visit or
other appropriate investigations by a Housing Needs
Officer. The purpose of a visit is to check that all
information relating to the applicant‘s housing application is
properly recorded, and that their housing needs have been
correctly assessed, and that they are a Qualifying Person
and otherwise eligible for an offer.

3.0 Administration of the
Housing Register

3.1 Bidding
Applicants who have applied to be on the housing register,
are eligible, and qualify can then begin bidding on
properties through Moving with Dacorum. Alternative
options for bidding include:




Over the phone on 0300 111 3570;
By text message to 07786 201131; or
In person at The Forum, Hemel Hempstead.

Due to the operation of a choice based lettings system,
whereby applicants pick which properties they wish to bid
for, we consider it reasonable to expect that - where an
applicant has been successful in bidding for their chosen
property - they will accept the offer of that property.

Page 68

Therefore, successful applicants will only receive one
property offer. If an applicant refuses the offer of
accommodation, the housing register application will be
suspended for six months. A refusal of a property will only
be considered if the applicant can provide evidence of a
valid reason, of which the Service Improvement and
Projects Team Leader shall be the final arbiter, as to why
they cannot accept it. Examples of reasons which are
unlikely to be considered valid include (but are not limited
to);




Location, size or layout of property;
Condition of property; or
Lack of garden and/or parking facilities (unless
required under a medical needs assessment).

Where an applicant can provide evidence to support their
refusal, and this is accepted by the Independent Reviewing
Officer, they will be able to continue bidding on other
properties.

Where an applicant cannot provide evidence to
support their refusal of a property, their offer can be
cancelled and they may be unable to bid on any future
homes for six months. Supported Housing Applicants
over the age of 60 who are downsizing from the
council or Housing Association property, will be
eligible to have three refusal options. After the third
refusal, where an applicant cannot provide evidence to
support their refusal of a property, their offer can be
withdrawn and they may be unable to bid on any
future homes for six months.

3.2 Approved Bidding
Applicants who have sensitive cases may still be able
to bid themselves, but the council will have the right to
review and approve the offer as suitable. This would
happen if an offer of accommodation put the applicant
or existing tenants at risk or in danger. The council
would work with the applicant and potentially with
third parties to discuss the reasoning and what
alternatives are available.

3.0 Administration of the
Housing Register
(continued)

3.3 Property Adverts

Page 69

All properties (except supported housing), advertised
through Moving with Dacorum will be made live on any
given weekday. They will then remain live for a
minimum of three days, closing at one minute to
midnight on the final day. The first day of advertising will
be the day on which an advert goes live, provided it goes
live before midday; and will otherwise be the day
afterwards.
We recommend that applicants check for properties a
minimum of every two days to avoid missing
opportunities to bid.
Supported Housing properties are advertised on a
weekly cycle and adverts will be live for a minimum of
five days, from one minute to midnight on a Wednesday
until one minute to midnight on the following Monday.
Supported Housing applicants can also request a weekly
newsletter to be posted to them to assist them in
alternative ways of bidding. Please state in your Housing
Register application or contact Housing Needs if you
would like this service.

3.4 Direct Offers
On some occasions, properties will be allocated
through a direct offer. A direct offer means that an
applicant will not bid on properties but will receive one
offer of suitable accommodation. Direct offers are
made by the housing service outside of the choice
based lettings system. When making a direct offer, the
council is required to consider the suitability of a
property for all members of the household.
These offers are used as part of our approach to
preventing homelessness. Applicants who are given a
homelessness status at the point of receiving the main
housing duty will receive one direct offer of suitable
accommodation. If the direct offer is refused without a
valid reason, the council will no longer have a duty to
provide the applicant with accommodation.
In addition to homeless applicants, direct offers may
also be used:









To match applicants requiring complex adaptations
to a suitable property;
For applicants living in Mother & Baby units;
In the case of hard-to-let properties (advertised at
least twice with no suitable bids);
For applicants in high-risk priority groups (see 4.0)
where a sensitive letting is required; or
For individual cases that would usually fall outside
of this policy but have an urgent or high risk
housing need (these offers can only be approved
by the internal Housing Panel).
Flexi Care applicants;
Supported Housing applicants who do not have
sufficient accessibility to placing bids can request
to go on the assisted bidding system. Information
surrounding location and scheme preference is
taken and applicants will be contacted by the

Housing Needs team when there is a suitable vacant
home to ascertain if they want the team to place a bid for
them. Applicants will only receive one direct offer of
accommodation.

3.5 Tenancies Offered
Home seekers will be offered an introductory tenancy.
This usually lasts for 12 months from the start date of the
tenancy. Upon successful completion of the introductory
tenancy, a secure tenancy will be issued.
Transfer applicants that already hold a secure tenancy
with the council or a registered provider, will be issued
with a secure tenancy. All Supported Housing applicants
are issued with a secure tenancy from the date of the
signed tenancy agreement.
Joint applicants could be eligible to be offered a joint
tenancy. Both applicants will have equal rights to the
whole property. Both parties are liable for the rent and
any damage that may occur. Applicants are encouraged
to research joint tenancies before signing or speak to the
Housing Needs team. Joint applications are accepted by
those who are married, in a civil partnership or living
together as if they were. We do not offer cross
generation tenancies.
Applicants that have been offered a council general needs
property will be invited to complete a pre tenancy course
before signing their tenancy agreement.

3.6 Types of Rent Offered
Social Rents- rents for these properties have been agreed
based on a formula set by government.
(Continued on next page)

3.0 Administration of the
Housing Register
(continued)

This creates a ‘formula rent’ for each property, which is
calculated based on the relative value of the property,
local income levels, and the size of the property. An aim
of this formula-based approach is to ensure that similar
rents are charged for similar social rent properties. The
majority of council properties are let on Social Rent.

Page 70

Affordable Rents- In 2011, the government introduced
affordable rent. This permits rents that are inclusive of
service charges to be set up to 80% of market rent.
Property size, location type and service provision must
be taken into account when determining what gross
market rent a property might achieve if let in the private
rented sector. These properties are still defined as social
housing.
Rent Increases- the government announced its intention
to set a long term rent deal for both local authority
landlords and housing associations. This would permit
annual rent increases on both social rent and affordable
rent properties of up to CPI plus one percentage point
from 2020, for a period of at least five years. (Gov.uk)
More information about council’s rent and service
charges setting can be found in our Rents and other
charges policy

3.7 Housing Support Provided
The Council has in-house support services:

Tenancy Sustainment- Supporting households from the
initial stages of their tenancy to help them understand
their roles and responsibilities as a tenant and how to
sustain a tenancy and encourage and facilitate their
independence, quality of life, health and well-being.
All applicants under the age of 25 will automatically be
referred to the Tenancy Sustainment team to ensure
they have access to support and provide the best
platform to sustain their tenancy.
Welfare & Sustainment- Provide support, advice and
assistance to households in new or existing tenancies
and to those who have been or are at risk of
homelessness including applicants that are in
temporary accommodation.
If an applicant is housed by the council via a homeless
application, the support worker will continue to work
with the applicant for a minimum of six months,
ensuring a successful transition to their new tenancy.

3.8 Checks and Assessments
If an applicant is successful in bidding, a full verification
is carried out at the point of offer. In some cases, a full
verification may be carried out before an offer is made.
Documents required as part of this include (but are not
limited to):






Proof of identity (Full Birth Certificate or Passport);
Proof of income and savings;
Completed income and expenditure form*;
Proof of residency of children (Child Benefit) (court
arrangement);
Proof of pregnancy (MATB1 Form);



Confirmation of immigration status and right to
work if from abroad;
 Medical evidence; and
 Notice of eviction (if relevant).
* We may use a credit checking agency to verify details
and as part of our policy to prevent/detect fraud, share
information with other departments within the council
and other Housing Providers. By completing the
Housing Register declaration and consent form you will
be giving your consent for this.
Existing tenants seeking a transfer will also need to
make themselves available for a home visit.
Applicants can aid this process by ensuring they have
accurately reflected their circumstances in their
application and by making sure they have all the
necessary documents required to evidence their
situation. Applicant are able to use the document
upload function on their Housing register application
via Moving with Dacorum
At the point an offer has been made, if an applicant
cannot provide their documentation within 48 hours
(unless there are exceptional circumstances), the offer
will be withdrawn and the property offered to the next
eligible person on the shortlist.

3.9 Renewal and Removal
It is the responsibility of the applicant to inform us if
their circumstances change and to provide us with up
to date contact details. Failure to notify the Council of a
change of circumstance may result in an offer of a
property being withdrawn. Some changes in
circumstances will mean that the application will be
suspended, this is because it could affect applicant’s
priority or eligibility for an offer.
(Continued on next page)

3.0 Administration of the
Housing Register
(continued)

Applicants are required to confirm their details as part
of renewing their application on an annual basis. The
council can, however, ask for confirmation at any point
during the application process.

Page 71

All renewal requests must be completed within 28 days
and completed through Moving with Dacorum. Failure
to renew an application within this time will result in
details being deleted from the register.
If a renewal application is started but not completed, a
member of staff will contact the applicant directly to
request the missing information.
If this information is not supplied to the council’s
satisfaction within 21 days then the details will be
deleted from the register as above.
Deleted applicants may re-apply at any point and the
new application will be considered. It is advised that
applications are only submitted or renewed if there is a
genuine housing need.




Where they have knowingly provided false,
misleading or incomplete information; or
Where they have accepted an offer of
accommodation.

Any applicant who is active on the Housing Register
and has not placed a bid in the last 12 months, will be
written to. Failure to respond to the letter within 28
days will result in details being removed from the
Housing Register.

3.10 Reviews and Appeals
As a housing service, we will provide an open and fair
review process, in accordance with legislation, with
appropriate support being offered.
Applicants have the right to request a review of
decisions under the Housing Act 1996:



concerning their eligibility; or
concerning their qualification to the scheme.

Review requests must be made in writing within 21
days of the applicant being notified of the decision.
The review will be conducted by the Service
Improvement and Projects Team Leader who is not
involved in original case assessments.

Applicants can also be removed from the register for
other reasons including:

Applicants have the right to request an appeal of the
outcome of review decisions. Any appeal request must
be made in writing within 21 days of the applicant
being notified of the review decision.




An appeal investigation will be carried out by the
Group Manager for Strategic Housing.

At their request;
Where they no longer meet eligibility or qualifying
requirements;

3.11 Disclosure of Information
and Conflicts of Interest
Information on any housing applicant is confidential
and will not be disclosed with any member of the
public.
This also applies to any information related to
applications. Applicants’ family members will need
written permission from the applicant to access any
information.
In certain circumstances, disclosure of an applicant’s
information to other professionals or services may be
necessary. This will only apply in certain circumstances for example to prevent and detect fraud, or where an
applicant has particular support needs that need to be
met in order to enable them to maintain a tenancy.
In such cases, any information that is disclosed will be
shared on a need-to-know basis. Examples of services
include but are not limited to:







Housing officers or tenancy sustainment
officers;
Corporate anti-fraud team;
Occupational health officers;
Doctors or social services;
Police or probation services; or
Other local authorities or housing associations.

Councillors, council employees and their close relatives
applying to join the housing register must disclose their
association with the council on their application form.
Applicants with an association to the council that are
successful in bidding on a property require approval
from the Corporate Director of Housing and
Regeneration before the formal offer being made.

4.0 Points and Additional
Priority

All applications are reviewed and assessed by a Housing
Needs Officer who will make the decisions in terms of
allocating points to each applicant on the housing register.
Points awarded are reflective of housing need and are used
to bid on a property. Applicants with the highest number of
points will be made an offer on the property at the close of
bidding (see appendix 1 for a detailed table of points
awarded).

As a local authority, we use the Housing Health and
Safety Rating System (HHSRS), introduced by the
Housing Act 2004 to formally score and demonstrate
the seriousness of hazards in dwellings.

If two or more applicants are at the top of the shortlist and
are in all other ways equal, a property will be offered to the
applicant with the earliest registration date.




4.1 People Who Are Homeless
Page 72

Part 7 of The Housing Act 1996 distinguishes between
people who are homeless and owed the main housing duty
to have accommodation secured for them by a local
authority and those who are homeless with no main
housing duty. Applicants who are homeless but are owed
either no main housing duty or a limited duty may receive
points. Those whom we have a full duty to house will
receive a direct offer as stated in section 3.4.
Before receiving the main housing duty decision, applicants
will receive assistance to prevent homelessness and to bid
through the choice based letting scheme, with points
awarded for relevant priority need criteria.

4.2 Insanitary, Overcrowded and
Unsatisfactory Housing
As a council, we recognise that tenants in the private rented
sector are more likely to be in insanitary or otherwise
unsatisfactory dwellings which can lead to potentially
harmful health and safety risks.

To address these issues, we will give additional priority
to applicants currently in private rented sector
accommodation if the property is found to:
Lack facilities or have shared facilities; or
Be in a state of disrepair.

This additional preference will only be given once and
will not increase where applicants identify both of the
above issues. Points awarded will either be of a ‘high’
or ‘low’ category (see Appendix 1) based on the
following:
Low:


High:



Minor disrepair
o Category 2 hazard from bands D – F
under the HHSRS; or
Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.

Major disrepair
o Category 1 hazard from bands A – C
under the HHSRS,; or
Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.

Both minor and major disrepair will need to be
confirmed by an officer from the Private Sector
Housing Team and there must be evidence that the
landlord is non-compliant in carrying out the repairs.
As a local authority we recognise that overcrowding in
a property can cause stress and have other negative
impacts on a household. In light of this, we will give
additional priority to those applicants who are
overcrowded according to our Bedroom Standard.

4.0 Points and Additional
Priority (continued)

4.2 Insanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory
Housing (continued)
Any points allocated to an applicant for overcrowding
will reflect the need set out within the Bedroom
Standard. Applicants are advised to read the standard
when making an application for further information on
the size of property they may be entitled to.
Overcrowding points are not awarded to applicants
currently residing in temporary accommodation.

Page 73

In order to make best use of our available housing stock,
we encourage tenants under-occupying their home (see
4.8 bedroom criteria) to downsize to a smaller property,
as this is more reflective of their housing need.
Applicants who wish to downsize will receive points
based on how many bedrooms they would like to
downsize by. This will need to be specified in the
application. As a result, the applicant will be limited in
the size of property they can bid for.

4.3 Medical and Welfare
We will award additional points on medical grounds
when there is evidence that an applicant’s current
housing situation is having a direct impact on their
and/or a household member’s medical condition. The
term ‘medical grounds’ also covers disability.
Points will be awarded based on four categories
(Extreme, high, medium or low) and reflect the level

of risk caused by remaining in the current housing (see
Appendix 1).
Medical cases are assessed by a Housing Needs Officer
and may seek advice from an independent medical
advisor who will advise the council when making our
final decision.






Applicants need to state how their medical condition will
be improved or alleviated by a move to alternative
accommodation.
We will also award additional points on welfare grounds,
which we define as care and support needs or other
social needs that do not require medical care or support
e.g. victim of domestic violence. These points are
awarded using four categories that are reflective of the
level of risk involved in the applicant remaining in their
current accommodation. Where appropriate, we may
request information from relevant professionals
involved in the applicant’s case to assess the level of
need. All welfare cases are presented to and assessed by
the internal housing panel.

4.4 Moving Due to Hardship
In some cases, we understand that current tenants may
need to move within the borough in order to avoid
hardship. We consider that hardship may be personal or
financial. Due to this, we will allocate points to
applicants who need to move within the borough due to
hardship.

Armed Forces points will only be awarded once. If the
applicant is housed by the council but wishes to move
again in the future, the additional points will not be
awarded again.

4.6 Right to Move
Applicants who meet the ‘Right to Move’ qualifying
criteria (see 2.3) will receive additional points.

4.7 Other Additional Priority
Criteria
The council is also committed to recognising a number
of other criteria, and in all cases the additional priority
will be awarded as points (see Appendix 1). The
additional priority criteria are as follows:


4.5 Armed Forces
Members of the armed forces who qualify to our
housing register will receive additional points if:


They are serving in the regular forces and are
suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability
which is attributable to their service;

They formally served in the regular forces;
They have recently ceased, or will cease to be
entitled to reside in the accommodation provided
by the Ministry of Defence following the death of
their spouse or civil partner who served in the
regular forces and whose death was attributable to
that service; or
They are serving or have served in the reserve
forces and are suffering from a serious injury, illness
or disability which is attributable to their service.



Existing tenants of supported housing
accommodation who wish to move from a
dispersed property in the community to a
supported housing scheme (CAT1 to CAT2
property);
Existing tenants aged 60 or over in general needs
accommodation who wish to move into sheltered
accommodation;

(Continued on next page)

4.0 Points and Additional
Priority (continued)

4.8 Move on Accommodation for
Young People and Care Leavers

4.7 Other Additional Priority Criteria (continued)

Applicants who are ready for settled accommodation
after a successful placement can make an application to
the Housing Register. Evidence will need to be submitted
from the applicant and Support Worker to show that
that the applicant is ready to live independently. These
cases will be heard at housing panel.



The evidence required but not limited to:



Page 74

Applicants with a dependant child or children who
occupy a flat on the first floor of a building or above
which does not have a lift.
Applicants that express an interest in moving to a
Supported Housing property to prevent social
isolation, be part of a community or require
additional support.

Referrals received from Multi-agency public protection
arrangements (MAPPA) panel. One nomination to us per
year. All necessary information will need to be provided
to us before an offer is made. All MAPPA referrals will be
considered at the internal Housing Panel

Additional priority criteria have been established in
relation to other high-risk applicants who are hard-tohouse and may require sensitive lettings. These
applicants include:




Witness protection cases;
Applicants moving on from supported housing;
or
Individuals identified through multi-agency
groups.

Applicants meeting the additional priority criteria are
not expected to be frequent or high in number and will
always be considered on a case-by-case basis.









Up to date rent statement showing no rent
arrears
Tenancy reference confirming young person has
had no tenancy breaches as a result of nuisance,
anti-social behaviour or other such behaviour
that requires enforcement action
Evidence that young person is ready to move on
and able to sustain a tenancy
Recently updated risk assessment
Recently updated support plan
Move on application form

4.9 Applicants involving Domestic
Abuse

4.10 Bedroom Criteria
To ensure homes reflect people’s housing need, we
operate in line with the Government’s Code of
Guidance 2012 as well as the Dacorum Borough
Council Bedroom Standards
Households who fall between the criteria within the
standards will be able to bid for properties in two size
categories to provide maximum choice.
For the purpose of this policy, the reference to children
sharing a room shall be considered to mean siblings or
step-siblings, not other relations or non-relations. We
understand there may be mitigating circumstances
where it is not appropriate for siblings or step-siblings
to share a bedroom as required by the standard. These
cases, including supporting evidence, will be reviewed
on an individual basis by the internal Housing Panel.
Exceptions to the bedroom criteria will also be
considered if medical evidence is provided to the
Housing Panel showing that a member of the
household is unable to share a room or requires an
additional room for medical equipment.
Prospective adoptive or foster parents will also be
considered for exemption at the discretion of the
Housing Panel.

The definition of Domestic Abuse can be found here:
Domestic Abuse cases through the Housing Register may
be presented at the Domestic Abuse Panel. Where
appropriate, we may request information from relevant
professionals involved in the applicant’s case to assess
the level of need.
Points are awarded using four categories that are
reflective of the level of risk involved in the applicant
remaining in their current accommodation.

Where these cases are approved, it is essential that
applicants consider the affordability of separate
bedrooms as the household will be considered underoccupying their home, which may affect Housing
Benefit entitlement.
Some housing association tenancy agreements may
differ from the bedroom standard used within this
policy. In these cases, we will restrict the size of the
household able to bid for the property based on the
details received from the relevant housing association.

5.0 Further Specific Criteria






5.1 Adapted Properties

Page 75

Due to the low number of properties available in the
borough that are suitable to meet the needs of people
who have mobility and physical health conditions, we
are committed to making sure that people who need
adapted properties are prioritised for them. Applicants
will be asked to provide a completed Occupational
Therapist (OT) report that states all the
recommendations for future housing.
When properties become vacant they are assessed by
the adaptations team to determine if the property can
be adapted and what level of adaptations can be
completed. When completing direct offers we will
consider individual needs, area preference and length
of time they have been waiting for a property,
unfortunately this means we are not able to offer in
order of length of time an applicant has been waiting
as it depends on the attributes of any available
property.

5.2 Village Lettings
When shortlisting for village properties, applicants
must meet the Local Connection to the borough (see
2.2). To be considered for an additional village
connection, applicants must meet the following
criteria:




A five-year residency within the village at some point
in their lifetime;
Family connection where an immediate family
member (parents, children, siblings) who are over
the age of 18 and has continuously been a resident
within the village for 10 years immediately preceding
the date of application;
Currently in permanent employment within the
village boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or
more, and which has been continuous for the last 24
months.
Villages for which additional priority will be given for
a local connection are:
Aldbury, Bovingdon, Chipperfield, Flaunden,
Flamsted, Great Gaddesden, Gaddesden Row, Kings
Langley, Little Gaddesden, Long Marston, Markyate,
Northchurch, Potten End, Wilstone and Wigginton.

5.3 Local Lettings Scheme
We reserve the right to implement local lettings schemes
for new developments or to address issues on existing
estates. These are used to ensure that communities are
sustainable and contain an appropriate mix of
households. Local Lettings Schemes may override the
Council’s normal lettings procedure. Examples include
properties that may have criteria based on age or
household composition to address specific local issues or
may override occupancy level agreements and demand
issues to address local management or supply.
The Council, in these circumstances, will ensure that
their local lettings policies do not discriminate, directly
or indirectly, on equality grounds. Local lettings policies
will normally apply to new developments where over 10
affordable homes will be provided.

5.4 Supported Housing and
Flexi Care
Supported housing properties are designed for
people aged 60 and over. On occasion, the age limit
is lowered to 55 and 50 when there has been no
interest in a property. However, applicants below 50
years old that would benefit from Supported
Housing will be required to demonstrate a medical
or welfare need. These applications will be assessed
by the internal Housing Panel.
Supported housing residents benefit from a
Supported Housing Officer, who can offer differing
levels of support as required and/or requested, as
well as opportunities to socialise with other
residents in their supported housing scheme.
The majority of our supported housing homes are
one bedroom, however on occasion a two-bedroom
property may become available. In these cases, the
allocation of this property will be considered on a
case-by-case basis, specifically taking into account
the age of any additional household members living
with the successful applicant and how this could
impact the wider scheme.
We can also offer Flexi Care supported housing
services for older people whose needs are beyond
the provision available within traditional supported
housing. Flexi care is different from other Supported
Housing schemes as there is a care team based
onsite which provides care packages and can attend
emergency situations. Flexi Care offers are always
made through a direct offer.

6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions






Lettings that are not treated as allocations under this
scheme include:


Page 76







Mutual exchanges between tenants of the
council or housing associations, whether by Deed
of Assignment or by commencement of new
tenancies (including those arranged via national
schemes such as Homeswapper);
Successions of a tenancy following the death of
a tenant;
Where an introductory tenancy, assured
shorthold starter, or probationary tenancy
becomes an assured or secure tenancy;
Where a secure or assured tenancy is granted by
court order under Matrimonial Causes Act 1973,
Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984, or
Children Act 1989; or
Where a tenancy is demoted by court order or
where a demoted tenancy reverts back to secure
tenancy status.

Other exemptions may include (but are not limited to):



A property allocated to a relative or carer of a
tenant who has died without a statutory right to
succession being present;
Changes to a tenancy which do not result in a
vacancy (e.g. joint to sole tenancy);

Where a vacancy is required to enable us to
discharge duty to statutorily homeless
households;
The need to re-house an existing tenant
temporarily in order to carry out repairs; or
Any other exceptional circumstances agreed by
the Housing Needs Team Leader and Strategic
Housing Group Manager.
A move agreed from a property with adaptations
that are no longer required in line with Help to
Move Policy.

6.1 Use and Occupation
A use and occupation account can be created when a
person is left in occupation following the death or
abandonment by the tenant(s).




These accounts must only be created once the
original tenancy has been properly terminated
either by a Notice to Quit (NTQ) being served
and expired or, in cases where the tenant is
deceased, a signed termination form from the
Next of Kin (NOK) will suffice.
The use and occupation provision allows the
person left in occupation to stay in the property
on a short-term, temporary basis whilst they
seek alternative accommodation. During this
time, the person left in occupation is expected to
pay a property charge which is known as mesne
profits. This payment is not and must not be
referred to as rent as this can have legal
implications that could imply the person has a
tenancy giving them rights to the property.



In circumstances where the tenant has died,
and the person left in occupation has no right
of Succession, a use and occupation account
can be set up. Please refer to Succession
Procedure for details regarding eligibility to
succeed to a tenancy.

The use and occupation account does not confer any
legal rights to the person left in occupation and they
have no legal right to remain in the property.
In exceptional circumstances the Assistant Director of
Housing has authority to award additional priority to
applicants and to amend or dis-apply the qualification
criteria. All exceptions such as this will be monitored
and reported on to the Corporate Director of Housing
and Regeneration.
In the interest of fairness and good administration,
such awards, amendments and dis-applications will
operate at the sole and absolute discretion of the
Assistant Director of Housing and, the Council
expects, will be both rare and few in number.
Dacorum Borough Council has the right to change this
Housing Allocations Policy at any given time and
implement changes immediately.

6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions
(continued)
7.0 Data Protection

6.2 Ending your tenancy
To end your tenancy, there are several things that you
must do.


Page 77

Give 4 weeks’ written notice - you can end your
tenancy by giving us 4 weeks’ written notice that
ends on a Monday. You can get a form sent to
you by your Tenancy Management Officer.



You need to allow our staff to inspect your
property during the 4-week notice period.



When your tenancy ends, you must clear the
inside and outside of your property unless we
have agreed for you to keep certain items.



A key safe will be provided at the property, you
will need to place the keys in the key safe by
midday on the day of the termination.

Further information on changing your sole tenancy to a
joint tenancy and other queries around ending tenancies
can be found on the Changing or ending your tenancy
page of our website.

7.1 Data Protection
When an applicant applies for housing, the council will
seek only information that they require to assess the
applicant’s housing need. The council is processing the
personal data you provide to comply with its legal
obligation, therefore processing is in accordance with
Article 6 (1) (c) of General Data Protection Regulation
(“GDPR”).
If you are providing us with special category personal
information (such as details about your health) we will be
processing this under Art. 9(2) of GDPR. If you are
providing us with criminal conviction personal
information we will be processing this under Art.10 of
GDPR.
We will use the data you have supplied for the purposes
of your housing application. The Privacy Notice for
Housing Applications details how the council will use the
personal data, who this data will be shared with and how
we will store your personal data.
Your personal data will be treated in accordance with the
council’s GDPR Personal Data Policy, the GDPR and Data
Protection Act 2018.
Section 166(4) of the Housing Act 1996 provides:
“The fact that a person is an applicant for an allocation of
housing accommodation shall not be divulged (without
his consent) to any other member of the public.”

Appendix 1
How we allocate points
Priority Category

People who are homeless and haven’t
received full housing duty under section
193(2) of the Housing Act 1996, Part 7

Criteria within priority categories

Points

For all priority categories, applicants will only receive points for meeting one
level of criteria.
All people who are homeless (within the meaning of the Housing Act 1996,
Part 7). People with no fixed abode, rough sleepers and sofa surfers.

10

Temporary Accommodation
If you are placed into temporary accommodation, you will be awarded
‘temporary accommodation points’ however, applicants will be exempt from
sharing, overcrowding and flats without a lift points.

Page 78

The Elms
Applicants who are residing at The Elms Hostel who have effectively engaged
with support workers, have no licence breaches and no rent arrears at The
Elms.
Confirmation from The Elms support workers is required before these points
are added.

People who have received main housing
duty under section 193(2)of the Housing Act
1996, Part 7

Successful Move on accommodation provided by the Elms.
Applicants who have moved into ‘Move on’ accommodation through The Elms,
once completed a satisfactory move on assessment.
Confirmation from The Elms management is required before these points are
added.
People who are owed the full statutory duty by the housing authority under
the Housing Act, 1996, Part 7 (as referred to in the Homelessness Reduction
Act 2017 as the main housing duty).
Note: Only to be given at the point that the duty is awarded and not before
even if an applicant is considered likely to receive this.

10

5

10

Homelessness
Status/ Direct Offer

Condition of private sector property

Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities

Page 79
Overcrowding

Major disrepair – the property has a high level hazard assessed using the
HHSRS.
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health
Officer.
Or
Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.
Minor disrepair – the property has a lower level hazard assessed using the
HHSRS.
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health
Officer.

50

10

A household that does not have sole use of kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.
At Dacorum Borough Council we consider this to be in cases when applicants
are residing in:
- A household that is living with family or friends and has resided
there for a minimum of 12 months.

10

A household that is residing in a House of multiple occupancy (HMO)

15

A household that is overcrowded.
At Dacorum Borough Council, we consider overcrowding to occur when an
additional person does not have a bed-space, if one bedroom is allocated to
each:
- Married or co-habiting couple;
- Adult aged 18 years or more;
- Pair of children aged 0 - 16 years of the same sex; and
- Pair of children aged 10 years regardless of sex.

Applicants that reside in a bedsit who are overcrowded will receive points in
addition to the above.

20
(to be given for
each additional
personal lacking a
bed-space if
maximum use of
available bedspaces is assumed).

5 per lacking bedspace

A household choosing to downsize by one or more bedrooms because they are
currently under-occupying.

Under-occupation in Council or Housing
Association properties within Dacorum

Page 80

Medical grounds

Welfare grounds

Children in flats

Under-occupation will occur when:
- A bedroom is unoccupied;
- The household contains two same-sex children aged 15 or under who
occupy separate bedrooms;
- The household contains any two children aged 9 or under who occupy
separate bedrooms.

30 points per
bedroom if
applicant wants to
downsize to a
general needs
property
50 points per
bedroom if
applicant wants to
downsize to a
Supported Housing
property

Extreme medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor- add in very high- 75
Very high medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor
High medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor
Medium medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor
Low medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor

100
75
50
30
10

Extreme welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel
Very high welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel
High welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel
Medium welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel
Low welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel

100
75
50
30
10

A household with one or more children aged 5 years or under in a flat (first
floor or above) where no lift is available.

10
(only to be given
once, regardless or
number of children
in household).

These points can only be awarded when another housing need is established.
Applicants will not be made active just on these points.

People who have:
- Formerly served in the regular forces (including those suffering injury,
illness or disability attributable to their service);

Members of the armed forces

Supported housing moves

-

Ceased entitlement to accommodation provided by the Ministry of
Defence following the death of their spouse or civil partner who
served in the regular forces (whose death was attributable to that
service);
- Served in the reserve forces, suffering serious injury, illness or
disability which is attributable to their service.
Existing tenants of sheltered housing in Dacorum who wish to move from
Category 1 to a Category 2 accommodation.
Or
An existing tenant aged 60 or over in general needs bedsit or one bedroom
accommodation in Dacorum who wishes to move into sheltered
accommodation.

Page 81

Use and Occupation

Applicants that have been awarded points by Housing Panel in cases where
they are under ‘Use and Occupation’ and Dacorum Borough Council require
the property back.
A Use and Occupation account will be created after the original tenancy has
ended, a Notice to Quit has been served and any remaining household
members are required to vacate the property.

Hardship

Applicants who need to move within the Borough due to hardship as noted by
the Housing Panel.
Or
Applicants who have been awarded the ‘right to move’.

10

25

50

10

High risk groups

People from high-risk groups who meet hard-to-house or sensitive lettings
criteria, such as (this list is not exhaustive):
- Care leavers;
- Witness protection cases;
- Move-on from supported housing; or
- Individuals identified through multi-agency groups.

Direct offer or
points at the
discretion of the
Housing Panel.

Management Reasons

Housing management can award points as an additional priority. In rare
circumstances that these points will be used, it will need to be agreed by two
housing managers.

10-100

Page 82

Links to other corporate
documents



Page 83

This policy links to and should be read in
conjunction with the following policies and
strategies:
Prevention of Homelessness & Rough
Sleeping Strategy

Legislation

The legislation listed below will be taken into
consideration when implementing this policy:










Tenancy Strategy



Mutual Exchange Policy



Help to move Policy



Rents and other charges Policy



Lettable standard?



Adaptations Policy?



PRS Enforcement policy? (Check titles



of these documents)







Housing Act 1996, Part 6 and 7
Children Act 2004
Equality Act 2010
Localism Act 2011
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
Domestic Abuse Act 2021
Allocation of accommodation: guidance for
local housing authorities in England (June
2012)
Providing social housing for local people
(December 2013)
Right to Move (March 2015)
Improving access to social housing for victims
of domestic abuse in refuges or other types
of temporary accommodation (November
2018)
Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local
Authorities (2018)
Homeless Suitability of Accommodation

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template
Policy / service / decision

Policy: Housing Allocations Policy

Description of what is being impact assessed
What are the aims of the service, proposal, and project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do
you need to reference/consider any related projects?
Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members,
etc.
It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment, dependent on likely level of impact

Page 84



What is the aim
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, each local authority has the right to determine their own Housing Allocations Policy. This
allows local authorities to give “reasonable preference” to certain categories of applicants, ensure that properties are allocated in a
fair and reasonable manner as well as being able to better manage our stock. The Allocations Policy sets out the rules that Dacorum
Borough Council must follow when letting our properties. This also allows us to manage the unrealistic expectations of those
applicants who have little or no prospect of being allocated a property. It is a legal requirement that this policy should be reviewed
every 4 years to take ensure the current policy evolves with the ever changing climate.







Outcomes
To make best use of our housing stock to house applicants most in need and ensure that access to Dacorum’s social
housing is fair, transparent and flexible.
What are the reasons for proposal or change
Changes to Housing Allocations Policy – recent significant change to address demand. Good practice to review policy
every four years. Changes has been proposed to help and support applicants most in demand and to increase the uptake
of Supported Housing stock.
Consider any related projects
Not applicable.

September 2019 V2

1



Who will be affected?

All residents wishing to apply for social housing in Dacorum.
Evidence
What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups?
(Include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects
or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.

Page 85

The Strategic Housing team have used the following evidence to help support the proposed changes to the policy and assess the
impact of the protected groups: complaints and service review requests, public consultations, KPI keys to key targets, village
demand data, Microsoft Teams engagement sessions and benchmarking against other local authorities and housing
associations. The policy will impact all protected groups and it is vital that the policy can support certain protected group and also
ensure that it does not discriminate against them. The opinion of Counsel has been sought, and acted upon, in order to ensure
that the changes are fair and comply with the law and is fair and non-discriminatory.
At engagement sessions, one was focused on Age of applicants at the Supported Housing Tenants Forum. Certain proposed
changes in the policy could have a positive impact of the demand of Supported Housing and to make it more accessible for
applicants over 60. However, this will not prevent applicants under 60 accessing this accommodation if their needs require.

September 2019 V2

2

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups? If you have not consulted other people, please
explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.

We have consulted with the general public (via Dacorum’s social media), Tenants & Leaseholders, staff, stakeholders and
partners. This aligns with the government’s ‘Charter for Social Housing Residents’ social housing white paper
Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others)

Page 86

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster
good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims. Using the table below,
detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own
understanding. Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any
mitigation.



The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment.
Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability).

Summary of impact
Protected group

Age

What do you know? What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service
users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t
and why? Feedback/complaints?

Negative
impact /
outcome

Neutral Positive
impact / impact /
outcome outcome

Internet access – older people less likely to be able to apply online.
Older people – more likely to be physically disabled (as per AGEUK)
☒

☐

☐

Younger people cannot be tenants until they are 18 years old.
Older people may be isolated in terms of information as they may
not have access to IT or the internet.
September 2019 V2

3

Older people may have vision issues which means they cannot read
and write.
16 year olds are able to apply for the Housing Register, however, a
tenancy cannot be awarded until 18.
Supported Housing is designed for 60+, limits the number of
applicants that can apply for this type of housing.
Applicants under 60 that have over £16k may not be eligible for
Supported Housing.

Page 87

Disability (physical,
intellectual, mental)
Refer to CIA Guidance Notes
and Mental Illness &
Learning Disability Guide

Applicants might be partially sighted or blind so cannot read
paperwork or websites.
Deaf people may have difficulty communicating with officers and find
the process daunting.
Disability may impact on timescales for being rehoused due to lack
of suitable property.

☒

☐

☐

Some people with a disability or mental health issues may not have
been diagnosed, or may need extra support.
Some applicants with mental health issues may not have the support
worker in place to apply.
September 2019 V2

4

People with intellectual impairment may not understand the
application/allocation process.
People that require major adaptations to their homes will receive a
direct offer rather than being active and being able to bid.
Blind applicants may want to the Housing Register bidding process
be accessible via screen reader.
Gender reassignment We should refer to people as you/they, gender neutral
We could ask people for their preferred pronoun on the application

Page 88

Race and ethnicity

Sex

September 2019 V2

☒

☐

☒

☐

☐

☐

☒

☐

☐

☒

☐

Some applicants may have English as a second language
Some applicants may wish to live in an area where there are more
likely to be other residents of the same ethnicity
In some circumstances we may need to discriminate positively in
favour of applicants from certain countries.

Religion or belief

☐

Some applicants may wish to live close to a place of worship, or in
an area where there are more likely to be other residents who follow
the same faith
In some circumstances we may need to discriminate positively in
favour of applicants from certain countries, who may also be more
likely to follow a particular religion.
Females are more likely to be a single parent than males and
therefore more likely to have a housing need for properties with
more than one bedroom.
For this reason, single males are also less likely to be allocated
social housing than females.

5

According to Age UK, older women are more likely to be physically
disabled than older men, partly because they live longer.
Age and sex of children may impact how many bedrooms they are entitled
to.
Custody orders to determine their primary address.
Social normality that children reside with Mother rather than their Father.
Sexual orientation

Applicants may have concerns about homophobia from staff or other
residents.

☐

☒

☐

☐

☒

☐

Gender/sexual orientation etc is not a factor.

Page 89

Not protected
characteristics but
consider other
factors, e.g. carers,
veterans, homeless,
low income,
loneliness, rurality
etc.

Lack of data on our applicants and existing tenants means we
cannot always identify protected groups.
Language should always meet plain English standards and be
gender neutral – e.g. ‘parent’ rather than mother/father.
Some applicants may not wish to live in an area where there are
more likely to be incidents of hate crime/asb or there is a perception
that this is the case.
Victims of domestic abuse may have cases reviewed and be allowed
to apply for housing when they would not otherwise qualify.
Low income families, affected by high rents either in private rent or
affordable rents. They would be deemed adequately housed, they
would not be eligible for the Housing Register.

September 2019 V2

6

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan
Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of
these. Please detail below the actions that you intend to take.
Action taken/to be taken
Date

Person
responsible

26.09.21

Paul Hunt

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action)
Age-

Action complete

Page 90

Internet access- paper copies of the application can be provided,
applicants can be given direct offers, able to bid by phone or text.
Applicants can request a home visit if they struggle with completing
paperwork online.
Older people might be more physically disabled- If applicants have
issues with applying or providing information, staff from DBC can help and
assist with this. DBC have an adaptations team to ensure that properties
offered are suitable for applicant’s needs.

☐

Younger people cannot be tenants until they are 18 years old- DBC
can signpost applicants under 18 to suitable supported accommodation
provided by HCC or RPS. Also known as move on accommodation. When
applicant is 18, the landlord will work with DBC to house applicant long
term.
Older people may have vision issues which means they cannot read
and write- We will provide paper versions of forms, in alternative
language, in Braille, or as voice recording
September 2019 V2

7

Disability (physical, intellectual, mental)

26.9.21

Paul Hunt

Applicants might be partially sighted or blind so cannot read
paperwork or websites - We will provide paper versions of forms, in
alternative language, in Braille, or as voice recording, staff can complete
home visits or applicants can enter council offices. Supported Housing
newsletters can be send out in braile.

Page 91

Deaf people may have difficulty communicating with officers and find
the process daunting- staff will treat all applicants with the same help
and advice. Emails, letters can be composed. If needed an interpreter can
assist.
Disability may impact on timescales for being rehoused due to lack
of suitable property- OT reports are required for applicants that require
adaptations, not all properties can be adapted, therefore can wait longer is
likely. When properties become void, they are assessed to determine what
adaptations are feasible.

☐

Some people with a disability or mental health issues may not have
been diagnosed, or may need extra support- DBC has a tenancy
sustainment team to help support applicants with complex needs & can
make referrals to external agencies such as CMHT & ACS.
People with intellectual impairment may not understand the
application/allocation process- Applicants can have support with the
allocation process, this can be provided by assisted bidding, direct offers
or requesting staff to place bids for them.
September 2019 V2

8

People that require major adaptations to their homes will receive a
direct offer rather than being active and being able to bid- as much
personal information and preferences are taken and the Housing Needs
team try to meet these preferences when allocating a property.

26.09.21

Paul Hunt

Gender reassignment

Page 92

Applicants who are or who have children that identify as non binary
may or may not be entitled to own bedroom- guidance required from
counsel to fairly determine how applications are assessed fairly and in line
with legislation.

Race and ethnicity

Some applicants may have English as a second language- application
or communication can be provided in different languages or an interpreter
can be used.

☒

26.9.21

Paul Hunt

☐

Some applicants may wish to live in an area where there are more
likely to be other residents of the same ethnicity
In some circumstances we may need to discriminate positively in
favour of applicants from certain countries.- applicants who are active
on the housing register have a choice to bid for properties in certain areas.
Applicants that are on the direct offers list, information and area
September 2019 V2

9

preferences are taken into account when offering a property. Where area
preference cannot be given, the Housing Needs team will make every
effort to ensure that it is in the same town.

Non protected characteristicsVeterans- are given additional priority on the Housing Register in line with
legislation.

Page 93

Homeless- applicants that are homeless or at risk of homelessness can
be awarded additional points. Homeless applications are taken from the
Homeless Prevention team and are assessed in line with legislation and
the homeless code of guidance. If a main housing duty is accepted,
applicants are placed on the direct offers list.

☐

☐
☐
☐

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below.

September 2019 V2

10

Completed by (all involved in CIA)

Paul Hunt, Sue Prowse, Cybele Fernandes

Date
Signed off by (AD from different Directorate
if being presented to CMT / Cabinet)

Page 94

Date
Entered onto CIA database - date
To be reviewed by (officer name)
Review date

September 2019 V2

11

Agenda Item 7

Report for:

Housing and Community Overview and
Scrutiny Committee

Date of meeting:

13th October 2021

Part:

1

If Part II, reason:
Title of report:

DBC Physical Activity and Sports Action Plan

Contact:

Julie Banks, Portfolio Holder for Community and Regulatory
Services
Author/Responsible Officer(s):
Mark Gaynor (Corporate Director (Housing & Regeneration),
Housing & Regeneration)
Layna Warden (Group Manager - Communities)
Alex Care (Community Partnerships and Wellbeing Team
Leader)
Claire Foster (Community Partnerships and Wellbeing Officer,
Sport and Physical Activity)

Purpose of report:

Recommendations

Corporate
objectives:
Implications:

Update Members on the Physical Activity & Sports Action Plan.

That Members note the report

Building strong and vibrant communities and
A Clean Safe and Enjoyable Environment
Financial
The delivery of this action plan is contained within existing
budgets within the people and communities group.

‘Value for money’
implications

Value for money
All projects that are being delivered within this action plan will
be scrutinised by officers and Members to ensure they are
being delivered in a way that provides value for money.

Risk implication

Individual risk assessments will be completed, where required,
for the individual tasks/projects in the Action Plan.

Community Impact
Assessment

Individual community impact assessments will be completed,
where required, for the individual tasks/projects in the Action
Plan.

Page 95

Health and safety
Implications

Individual health and safety assessments will be completed,
where required, for the individual tasks/projects in the Action
Plan.

Consultees:

Everyone Active, Dacorum Sports Network, Sportspace (DST),
West Herts College, Dacorum School Sports Coordinator,
Apex in the Community, Community Action Dacorum, Herts
Disability Foundation and Herts Sports Partnership

Background
papers:

DBC Physical Activity and Sports Strategy

Historical
background
(please give a brief
background to this
report to enable it
to be considered in
the right context).

Glossary of
acronyms and any
other abbreviations
used in this report:

In October 2018, the Community Partnership and Wellbeing
Team gained Cabinet Approval for the DBC Physical Activity
and Sports Strategy. The strategy is a high-level document that
set outs the DBC’s objectives and commitments to sport and
physical activity in Dacorum. It was agreed, that a detailed
action plan would accompany the strategy, which would
include the details of sport and physical activity tasks/projects
that are developed to support the strategy.
APG – Adventure Playground
AGP – Artificial Grass Pitch
DST - Dacorum Sports Trust
DSN – Dacorum Sports Network
FTE – Full Time Equivalent
KPI – Key Performance Indicator
OSC – Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1. Background and Introduction
1.1. In October 2018, the Community Partnership and Wellbeing Team gained
Cabinet Approval for the Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) Physical Activity
and Sports Strategy. The strategy is a high-level document that set outs the
DBC’s objectives and commitments to sport and physical activity in
Dacorum.
1.2. At the Housing and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC)
Meeting it was agreed that a detailed action plan would accompany the
strategy, which would include the details of sport and physical activity
tasks/projects that have been developed to deliver on the commitments set
out in the strategy.
1.3. This report sets out the progress since the last Housing and Community
Overview and Scrutiny Committee update in October 2020. It shows the

Page 96

projects that are being developed across the Council, not just those
happening within or linked to the Community Partnerships and Wellbeing
Team. Supporting resident wellbeing (both physical and mental) through
physical activity and sport is part of the Council’s Corporate Plan and the
objective to build strong and vibrant communities. This report highlights
some of the ways that more sports and leisure opportunities have been
created for residents across Dacorum and how the Sports and Physical
activity action plan is being delivered.
2. Progress
2.1. The Physical Activity and Sports Action Plan is presented as an Appendix to
this report. As requested from the previous meeting this has been split for
members information and Appendix 1 details some financial details and
statistics. Appendix 2 contains all completed initiatives in the last 12 months
and Appendix 3 to 5 provides details of the progress of each project/initiative
split by the organisation leading on delivery between DBC, APEX and
Dacorum Sports Network (DSN)
2.2. The Community Partnerships and Wellbeing team has 1 FTE resource which
is dedicated to sports and leisure activity projects. The Sports and Physical
Activity officer leads on the coordination, management and reporting of the
Action Plan for the Council to ensure progression of the commitments set
out in the strategy.
2.3. The DBC Physical Activity and Sports Strategy has four key commitments
around Governance, Facilities and Infrastructure, Tackling Physical Inactivity
and Partnership Working. The Action Plan clearly identifies which
commitment(s) each project or initiative links to, to show the golden thread
that connects all the work. Of the projects being developed:





33% relate to Facilities and Infrastructure
24% relate to Tackling Physical Inactivity
38% relate to Partnership Working
5% relate to Consultation

2.4. The Covid-19 pandemic has provided a number of challenges but also
opportunities to local organisations in increasing sports and physical
activities. To support this the Sports and Physical Activity officer worked with
organisations to apply for funding. As a result Dacorum was funded a total of
£100,139 across 21 organisations, with individual organisation amounts
ranging from £300 to £10,000. The funding pot across Hertfordshire was a
total of £599,801. The officer also supported the delivery of 200 Physical
activity packs to residents of Dacorum through the Family First Team to
support children at a primary age who need it most.
2.5. The implementation of the new Service Level Agreement working with Apex
in the Community which started in April 2021, has created 8 initiatives which
have been added to the Partnership Working total which can be found
below. There are additionally 2 initiatives which have been added through
the partnership with Dacorum Sports Network with regards to Facilities and
Infrastructure. The Everyone Active outreach programme re-started in
September 2021 following the Everyone Active Communities Manager

Page 97

returning from Furlough and will ensure that KPI collection can be completed
to report from January 2022.
2.6. There have been 17 DBC and 1 Apex initiatives that have been completed
since the last OSC meeting. These are summarised below:





















Cupid Green Playing Fields Tennis Courts – the facility was transformed and
resurfaced utilising S106 funds providing x4 tennis and x2 netball court, gated
access, seating areas, equipment storage areas new bins
3G Pitches Grovehill APG and Adeyfield APG – Led by the Community Safety
Team in response to the lack and demand of 3G pitches in Dacorum. S106
funding was invested in an artificial pitch at Grovehill APG and Adeyfield APG
Wake Up and Dance Project - Virtual 10 minute weekday dance sessions on
Zoom running throughout lockdown to connect the community engaging 136
participants a week on average
Lets Dance Online Seated Dance – Working with Dacorum Community Dance
to provide Online zoom sessions to target those with limited mobility. Average of
10 participants per class per week
Walk Dacorum 2021 - A virtual walking challenge for the month of March,
fundraising for the Daisy Cave Foundation. We asked participants to walk
154,800 steps across the month which is the amount of Dacorum residents. 125
tickets sold raising £720 for Daisy Cave Foundation
Virtual Your Town Dacorum 2020 - 5k/10k Fun run held across Dacorum
focussing on bringing communities together. 102 participants took part across
the weekend raising £710 for Raise, our local NHS charity
Golf Access – 5 ladies took part in this partnership course with Little Hay Golf
Club and Hertfordshire Golf to encourage new participants to play for the first
time along with helping people progress from the driving range to playing on the
course
Active Dacorum's 12 Days of Christmas – 230 online participants joined the
Active Dacorum Team for 12 days of online festive fun! From 1st-12th December
the team posted short Christmas themed activity each day
Community Grants 2020 - Summer Round - £17,741 has been awarded in the
Summer Round of which £4,837 was for projects related to sport and physical
activity
Empower – 38 boys and girls aged 9-11 years took part in the Empower Mental
health and wellbeing programme at JFK School
Herts Health Walks - Working with Age UK Dacorum and Sheltered Housing to
start new walking activity, however this session did not go ahead due to failed
risk assessment due to routes. Funding was moved to a Walking Football
programme.
Sporting Chance Programme x3 sessions – The funding was rolled into one
session in response to Covid and restricted budgets. 18 unique participants took
part in the programme with sustainability linked to Warriers Boxing Club
Beginner Nordic Walking – x3 sessions ran across Dacorum with a total of 11
participants taking part
Inclusive Cycle Events - 1 to 1 cycling offer for those with learning difficulties or
special needs. 21 attended Jarman Park Session August 2020, 17 attending
Ashyln's Berkhamsted event August 2020
TAG Community Dance Event - An intergenerational dance programme across
Hertfordshire, celebrating Herts Year of Culture. Project was delayed and
adapted delivery due to Covid-19. Finale weekend 11-13th Dec: Potten End
Workshop, Online Performances, Webinars and Podcasts. Total of 211
participants took part from Dacorum
Grovehill Scouts/Beavers Tennis - To introduce Local Scouts/Beavers to
Tennis and help them to achieve various Badges. 20 participants took part
accompanied by Parents attended and were informed of other local Tennis
Opportunities

Page 98

2.7. A combination of verbal feedback, figures and statistics, social value
calculations and testimonials are collected where appropriate to understand
the success of these initiatives. A number of partnership meetings are also
beneficial to share best practice and learn from previous initiatives which
help shape future programmes to meet the needs of Dacorum residents.
2.8. There are now 37 live items within the action plan, of which 28 are new
since the last OSC meeting showing the development of this plan, in
particular to meet gaps and demand identified as we start to focus on
recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic. These projects/initiatives are split
between DBC, Apex and DSN as the lead organisation to facilitate delivery
and require collaboration with a number of partners. These also cover a
wide range of sports and physical activities and an example of some of
these are detailed below:

















FWG - Football Working Group Meeting - to facilitate an effective working
partnership between DBC, Clubs and the FA/Football Foundation; one that can
enable better communication, facilitate quicker and easier resolution of issues,
effectively exploit opportunities for community benefit and facilities improvement,
and deliver a better understanding of the needs, capabilities and limitations for all
parties. Group to meet at least every quarter. Positive feedback from ongoing
meetings.
Planning & Sports Working Group Meeting - purpose is to take oversight of
the borough’s future Sports facilities and ensure all organisations are working
collaboratively towards the delivery of the Local Plan and the Active Dacorum
strategy. Being used for best practice on LA HSP Meetings, Third meeting was
held in September 2021, group will next meet in Feb 22. Group feeding nicely
into Local Plan and internal DBC planning group
Basketball Northridge Way Developments - resurfacing and extending the
basketball court. A further £22,000 has been donated by a local electrical
company to further improve the facilities. Now looking at a total new build with
the £17,000 we already have, along with seating area and x2 brand new posts.
Works are now confirmed to start January 10th 2022
Your Town 2021 - 5k fun run held in Hemel Hempstead Town Centre focussing
on bringing communities together. All funds raised by the event will go to a
Mayor's Charity. Date confirmed as 17th October 21. Support of lead officer for
event - Mayors Event Officer. 102 tickets have now been sold. Looking for
volunteers and stall holders
Wellness Festival 2021 – 415 participants took part in a weeklong event to
promote local activity facilitators/organisations across Dacorum to celebrate
wellbeing such as; MIND mental health podcast, HIIT class, sleep talk and
healthy cooking demonstrations. Evaluation report to be finalised
Active Local – is a working partnership with Herts Sports Partnership as a
Hertfordshire’s collaborative place-based initiative to reduce inactivity. It aims to
support targeted areas in highlighting their strengths whilst also responding to
local need and identifying where support, intervention or extra capacity is needed
to create a more joined-up approach to tackling inactivity. £52,587 worth of
funding generated by Active Local now in total
HAPpy Programmes - An extension of the Fit, Fed & Read Programme to
provide holiday provision for those who see a holiday drop off. Funding provided
through the Holiday Hunger Campaign via Marcus Rashford - 22 Camps ran
across Summer in Dacorum, awaiting final figures from HSP and programme has
been extended to Christmas holidays 2021
Sporting Chance ProFormance Football - Working with HSP to tackle Knife
Crime Prevention. Linking to Community Safety Partnerships as a strategic
priority. 30 participants on average attending across the x2 sessions
Shape Up Programme 2021 - Partnered with Watford Community Trust fund to
deliver a 12 week weight management programme for overweight males in

Page 99



Dacorum. May programme great success in new area (Tring), 28 people running
over capacity. September programme due to start end of September 21/25
spaces filled. Additional Public Health Funding secured to run another x3
programmes - Jan, March Sep 22
Berkhamsted & Hemel Hempstead Hockey Club - Construction of new
Hockey AGP with Floodlights - Fundraising continues (£180k pledged so far).
Commercial Bank engaged to define Loan potential. Pre-Construction Planning
Works: Archaeological Investigation Plan Submission (Summer 2021). Sports
Continuity Plan, Ecological Plan and Road Management Plan to follow

2.9. Following feedback from the previous OSC, Members will note the addition
of data within the action plan in relation to the number of residents engaged
and financial figures. A breakdown of the below can be seen in the statistics
tab
 In the financial year 2020/21 1608 Dacorum residents were engaged
with, an increase of 172 participants from 2019/20. Additionally 4751
residents have already engaged with activities in 21/22 with 5 months to
go a considerable increase on last year.
 In 2020/21 a total of £346,766 was invested into Sport and Physical
Activity by DBC, Public Health, Funding Applications, HSP and S106
funds.
3. Monitoring progress and next steps
3.1. The Action Plan has been developed in partnership with a number of key
stakeholders, including Everyone Active, Dacorum Sports Network,
Dacorum Sports Trust, West Herts College, School Sports Coordinator,
Apex, Community Action Dacorum and Herts Sports Partnership. These
stakeholders now constitute the Action Plan Project Board which meets
quarterly to discuss the progress of projects, identify areas to work together
and gaps in provision (both geographical and activity gaps). Whilst the
Project Board are involved in the oversight of the Action Plan, the document
is wholly owned and managed by the DBC Sport and Physical Activity
Officer. There has been a good mix of partners in attendance so far and the
meetings have been very valuable in the creation and progress of the action
plan. The feedback has been very positive and partners appear to be keen
to help shape the work and identify how the whole group be make a positive
impact to the community.
3.2. The Internal Communications team is aware of the activities within the
Action Plan and have supported the Community Partnerships and Wellbeing
Team with the promotion of activities and events through our varied
channels including the website, Facebook and Twitter. Following a change
in direction and the implementation of virtual events due to the pandemic, for
example the Virtual Wellness Festival, the Communication team have
played a part in helping with the setup and launch of the Active Dacorum
YouTube channel. Partnerships with the sports stakeholder organisations
have also ensured that communications are coordinated between the
organisations.
3.3. A few challenges have been presented, as expected with many projects,
where on occasions there are issues that prevent work progressing as
expected. These have included:

Page 100



Length of time for key partner performance data to reach us in a format
that meets our requirements



Covid-19 and the lockdown and cancellation of project and events



The impact of Covid-19 around certain vulnerable groups still in isolation



Furlough of partner staff members



Funding streams change in priority of direction (due to Covid-19)
resulting in unsuccessful applications and removal of funds; e.g the
Sporting Chance programmes

3.4. These issues have been addressed through effective partnership working in
particular through the Project Board and working groups which have helped
identify collective solutions.
3.5. While events and activities have being paused because of Covid-19
restrictions, the Sports and Physical Activity officer utilised the time to focus
on development, obtaining funding and planning future activities and
initiatives. This has been evident in the increase in engagement at the point
where restrictions were reduced and online and in-person initiatives took
place.
3.6. With activities and initiatives re-started, the increase in project and event
workload will impact the time available for the Sports and Physical Activity
officer to focus on future plans and initiatives. Senior officers are aware of
this potential risk and identifying solutions to ensure the continued delivery
of the action plan. Additionally the structures created by the officer ensure
that monitoring of strategy and action plan will continue through the board.
4. Recommendations
4.1. That Members note the report and a further update to OSC will be presented
in Oct 2022.

Page 101

Dacorum Borough Council - Physical Activity and Sport Annual Action Plan - Statistics (April-March)
Community Engagment Total 2019/20

Funding Total 2019/20

Under 18's

18-55

Over 55

Unknown

Total

1242

112

82

0

1436

DBC
£

6,300.00

Community Grants
£

11,475.00

S106 Funds
£

240,000.00

Funding Applications
£

77,358.00

HSP
£

Community Engagment Total 2020/21

15,000.00

Public Health
£

69,000.00

EA

n/a

n/a

Active Dacorum Hub

EA

n/a

n/a

Active Dacorum Hub

EA

TBC End of Quarter

n/a

Other
£

5,000.00

Total
£

424,133.00

Funding Total 2020/21

Under 18's

18-55

Over 55

Unknown

Total

286

550

327

445

1608

DBC
£

20,000.00

Community Grants
£

13,453.00

S106 Funds
£

60,000.00

Funding Applications
£

54,587.00

HSP
£

Community Engagment Total 2021/22

Page 102

Active Dacorum Hub

58,587.00

Public Health
£

40,000.00

Other
£

100,139.00

Total
£

346,766.00

Funding Total 2021/22

Under 18's

18-55

Over 55

Unknown

Total

632

3218

486

415

4751

DBC

£

5,950.00

Community Grants

£

-

S106 Funds

£

17,000.00

Funding Applications

£

-

HSP

£

2,000.00

Public Health

£

24,000.00

Other

£

39,300.00

Total

£

88,250.00

Dacorum Borough Council - Physical Activity and Sport Annual Action Plan - Completed Items for OSC Ocotber 2020 - Ocotber 2021
DBC Strategy Commitment (and EA's
priorities where relevant)

Item

Location

Target Group

Lead Org

Outcome

Success Measures

Project Completed
Date

Relevant Statistics

£60,000 funded from S106

Improve the quality of the tennis courts on site
and add the provision of netball

New surface in place

Apr-21

Final colour sprayed onto courts May
2021

240k S106 funding for
developments

Installation of two new 3G pitches which will
increased provision for local football clubs and
increase opportunities for young people who
attend the APGs

New 3G pitches

Mar-21

Sites opened May 2021

Partners

Funding

Facilities and Infrastructure

Facilities and Infrastructure
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Facilities and Infrastructure

Cupid Green Playing Fields Tennis Courts - Address the
transformation and resurfacing of the tennis courts where
we will be aiming to provide both netball and tennis by
utilising S106’s funds

Hemel Hempstead - Grovehill

3G Pitch Grovehill APG and Adeyfield APG S106 Money There is a lack of 3G pitches in Dacorum. We are looking to Hemel Hempstead - Grovehill
utilise S106 funding to invest in an artificial pitch at Grovehill
& Adeyfield
APG and Adeyfield APG

Dacorum
Residents

DBC

n/a

Local Football
Clubs

DBC

Herts FA, Local football
Clubs, DSN & Adventure
Playgrounds

EA Outreach

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Wake Up and Dance - Virtual 10 minute weekday dance
sessions on Zoom

Dacorum

All Ages

DBC

BEE Creative & Dacorum
Community Dance

DBC funded pilot for March

Increase physical activity, reduce lonliness and
isolation

x5 sessions run each week Mon-Fri through
March

Mar-21

136 week 1 - 157 week 2 - 130 week 3 127 week 4 - 137 week 5 - 129 week 6

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Lets Dance Online Seated Dance - Online zoom sessions
to target those with limited mobility

Dacorum Sheltered Housing
Tenants and Dacorum
Residents

Older Adults

Dacorum
Commnity
Dance

DBC

National Lottery

Reduce isolation and increase mobility

x1 online session for one term

Running till Summer
holidays

Average of 10 people per week. Looking
at sustainability of session, now linked
to National Lottery Funding so sessions
can continue

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Walk Dacorum - A virtual walking challenge for the month
of March, fundraising for the Daisy Cave Foundation. We
are asking participants to walk 154,800 steps across the
month which is the amount of Dacorum residents

Dacorum

Dacorum
Residents

DBC

n/a

CP & Mayor's Events Budget
£700

Increased physical activity levels of participants
taking part

Target of 75 participants

Mar-21

Tickets sold out - 125 raising £720 for
Daisy Cave Foundation. Facebook event
feedback and interation has been
fantastic

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Virtual Your Town Dacorum 2020 - 5k/10k Funrun held
across Dacorum focussing on bringing communities
together. All funds raised by the event will go to a local NHS
charity

Dacorum

Dacorum
Residents

Ocado £5,000

Encourage mass participation to raise funds to
support local community development projects

Minimum target of 116 registered runners

October 18th 2020

102 participants took part across the
weekend with some great feedback,
raising £710 for Raise

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Golf Access - To help golf clubs encourage new
participants to play for the first time along with helping
people progress from the driving range to playing on the
course.

Bovingdon

All ages / Focus on
Females

DBC

Hertfordshire Golf, Little Hay

In Kind / Volunteers / DBC
Funded

Making golf more accessible to all

x1 Access Programme to be run at Little Hay in
2020

Apr-20

Programme fully booked and ran with 5
ladies. Will look to run next programme
in Jan 2021

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Active Dacorum's 12 Days of Christmas - Join the Active
Dacorum Team for 12 days of online festive fun! From 1st12th December we shall be posting a short Christmas
themed activity each day on our Facebook page
@ActiveDacorum that you can do at home and with your
family

Dacorum

Dacorum
Residents

DBC

n/a

n/a

Increase physical activity and mental wellbeing
through activity ideas

x12 activities from Arts & Culture, Health &
Wellbeing to Sport & Physical Activity

Dec-20

230 Views with great engagement and
feedback

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Community Grants 2020 - Summer Round - Community
Grant funding have 3 funding rounds a year. Groups putting
forward projects / applications which are aimed at getting
inactive residents active, and link to our strategy, will be
given additional points towards their overall score

Dacorum

Community groups
& Dacorum
Residents

DBC

Community groups

£60,000 from DBC per year

Increase in applications for projects relating to
reducing physical inactivity along with improving
community partnerships

Investment of £60,000 per year into Dacorum
Community Groups

April-May
June-August
August-November

£17,741 has been awarded in the
Summer Round of which £4,837 was for
projects related to sport and physical
activity. Winter panel held on 16th Dec

Partnership Working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Empower - Mental health and wellbeing programme
tagerting boys and girls ages 9-11 years

Hemel Hempstead

9 - 11 years

Watford FC
Community
Trust

DBC

Your Town

Partnership Working

Comic Relief Funding

early May referaals end with 32 places

x3 phase delivered across

May-21

April/May JFK school - 90mins longphysical activity 1 hour and weblling
workshop 30min - 38 Children

Partnership Working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Herts Health Walks - Working with Age UK Dacorum and
Hemel Hempstead - Grovehill
Sheltered Housing to start new activity options for residents

Older Adults

Age UK
Dacorum

DBC & HSP

TIF - Sport England £2,000

To reduce loneliness amongst older adults and
increase activity levels

x1 new health walk

Sep-21

Session now not going ahead due to
failed risk assessments for route from
sheltered accomodation to Hub, many
routes were looked at

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Sporting Chance Extreme Sports - (Climbing, Bouldering,
High Ropes, Caving and Skate Park) - Working with HSP to
tackle Knife Crime Prevention (Sporting Chance Project).
Linking to Community Safety Partnerships as a strategic
priority.

14 - 19 years

HSP

DBC & The XC

Sport England Satellite Club
Funded - £2,000

Vulnerable targeted groups increase physical
activity, improving health outcomes

x1 Session

Covid-19 on hold

Funding withdrawn due to Covid

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Sporting Chance Football - Working with HSP to tackle
Knife Crime Prevention (Sporting Chance Project). Linking
to Community Safety Partnerships as a strategic priority.

Hemel Hempstead

14 - 19 years

HSP

DBC & Watford FC Trust

Sport England Satellite Club
Funded

Vulnerable targeted groups increase physical
activity, improving health outcomes

x1 Session

Covid-19 on hold

Funding withdrawn due to Covid

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Sporting Chance Boxing Fitness - Working with HSP to
tackle Knife Crime Prevention (Sporting Chance Project).
Linking to Community Safety Partnerships as a strategic
priority.

Hemel Hempstead

14 - 19 years

HSP

DBC, APG's, Community
Safety Team and YC Herts

Sport England Satellite Club
Funded

Vulnerable targeted groups increase physical
activity, improving health outcomes

x1 Session

Aug-20

18 unique participants, programme
finished with sustainability linked to
Warriers Boxing Club

Hemel Hempstead

Beginner Nordic Walking - Nordic Walking is a total body
Hemel Hempstead, Tring and
version of walking that can be enjoyed by non-athletes as a
Potten End
health-promoting physical activity

40+

DBC

Ridgeway Nordic Walking

£600 DBC Funded

To set up a Nordic Walking session to offer
Dacorum residents a new way of walking

x1 beginner programme to be run in 2020

Mar-20

Sessions have finished with 11
participants taking part

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Inclusive Cycle Events - 1 to 1 cycling offer for thoese with
learning difficulties or special needs. All will be at different
levels of ability

Hemel Hempstead and
Berkhamsted

Individuals with
learning disabilities
or special needs

Herts Disability
Foundation

DBC

£800 DBC Funded

Allowing everyone the opportunity to be able to
ride a bike and improve their own ability to feel
confident on riding a bike

4 events across 2020

2020

21 attended Jarmin Park Session
August 2020, 17 attending Ashyln's
Berkahmsted event August 2020

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

TAG Community Dance Event - An intergenerational dance
programme across Hertfordshire, celebrating Herts Year of
Culture. The Event will incorporate performances, a festival
and training opportunities

Dacorum

All Ages

BEE Creative

Dacorum Community Dance,
DBC, Three River & Watford

£50,000 Arts Council
England Funding

To produce intergeneratioal, community driven
dance performances

A range of workshops, events and
performances held across Dacorum, Watford
and Three Rivers

Dec-20

Project was delayed and adapted
delivery due to Covid-19. Finale
weekend 11-13th Dec: Potten End
Workshop, Online Performances,
Webinars and Podcasts. Total of 211
participants took part from Dacorum

Page 103

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Consultation

Completed Item

Priority Action

New Item Complete

Tackling Physical Inactivity

DBC

Key

Dacorum Borough Council - Physical Activity and Sport Annual Action Plan

DBC Strategy Commitment
(and EA's priorities where
relevant)

Item

Location

Target Group

Lead Org

Partners

Funding

Outcome

Success Measures

Project Dates

Facilities and Infrastructure

Facilities and Infrastructure

Indoor & (Playing Pitch Study) Facilities Study- Study to look into
the number of and quality of facilities within Dacorum. Being completed
in collaboration with surrounding LA's

Dacorum, Watford & Three
Rivers

Leisure Facilities

Facilities and Infrastructure

Berkhamsted Leisure Centre - DBC have commissioned a further
feasibility study into the option of a new leisure centre on the
Berkhamsted site

Berkhamsted Leisure Centre

All Berkhamsted and
Dacorum Residents

Facilities and Infrastructure

Local Football Facility Plan (LFFP) - A ten year strategy to change
the landscape of football facilities in England. Every LA will have a
LFFP, which is a short, well-defined document that captures current
football facility assets and identifies investment priorities in each local
authority

Dacorum

Facilities and Infrastructure
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Cycle Infrastructure S106 Money - S106 money has conditions on it
which have to be adhered to. Working with DBC Economic
Development team to work towards a sustainable transport project,
improving cycle paths

Facilities and Infrastructure
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Zwings E-Scooter Trial - Looking to trial the use of E-Scooters in
Hemel Hempstead

Facilities and Infrastructure

FWG - Football Working Group Meeting - to facilitate an effective
working partnership between DBC, Clubs and the FA/Football
Foundation; one that can enable better communication, facilitate
quicker and easier resolution of issues, effectively exploit opportunities
for community benefit and facilities improvement, and deliver a better
understanding of the needs, capabilities and limitations for all parties

Facilities and Infrastructure

Planning & Sports Working Group Meeting - purpose is to take
oversight of the borough’s future Sports facilities and ensure all
organisations are working collaboratively towards the delivery of the
Local Plan and the Active Dacorum strategy

Dacorum

Facilities and Infrastructure

Recreation Play Developments - Since the increase in local green
space use, there is a demand to improve the playgrounds and multi
use areas across Dacorum

Dacorum

Facilities and Infrastructure

Basketball Northridge Way Developments - resurfacing and
extending the basketball court

Hemel Hempstead - Chaulden

Recreational Leisure
Facilities

Facilities and Infrastructure

Community Use Agreements - a document for drawing up
agreements for schools for use of community facilities

DBC & KKP

n/a

Used to inform future investments and developments
and the Local Plan

Working Group in place

Ongoing

Priority Action

DBC

KKP

DBC funded (Budget to be
confirmed)

Improved leisure facility within Berkhamsted.
Increased member base and usage

New leisure facilities

Ongoing

New Item

Leisure Facilities

The FA, KKP

DBC, Football Foundation &
Dacorum Football Clubs

Different funding streams will be
available for clubs to apply
throughout the 10 year strategy.
Estimate of £500,000 - £750,000
which could be applied for in
Dacorum

To improve the quality of Dacorum Football Facilities
to increase participation

Working Group in place

Ongoing

Dacorum

Dacorum Residents

DBC

Herts CC

Quote at £75,000 for year long trial.
Looking into 3 years

Improved infrastructure will improve usage and
increase activity

Improved pathways

Ongoing

Hemel Hempstead

Dacorum Residents

Zwings

DBC, Herts CC & DfT

Zwings to fund

Reduce shorter car journerys, improving connections
between train station, town centre and Maylands
Business Park

Improved sustainable travel

Ongoing

DBC

Estates, CSG, Community
Partnerships, Legal, DSN,
Dacorum Football
Representatives, The FA
and Football Foundation

n/a

Used to improve communication, resolve problems
and inform all parties across the Borough. The group
will use the LFFP

Working Group in place

Ongoing

Leisure Facilities

DBC

Planning, Community
Partnerships, Legal,
Finance, Estates, S106,
Sport England, HSP, NGB's,
HCC

n/a

Used to inform future investments and developments
and address the Local Plan

Working Group in place

Jan-21

Recreational Leisure
Facilities

DBC

DBC

Reports being sent to cabinet

To provide better recreational leisure facilties to our
residents

Improved facilities by end of 2023

Sep-22

DBC

DBC

£17,000 - Youth Provision
Reserves

To provide better recreational leisure facilties to our
residents

Improved facilities by end of 2022

Sep-21

n/a

To ensure venues provide community access

The setup a group who meets annually to
discuss CUA's

Sep-22

Dacorum

Dacorum

Leisure Facilities

Schools

Watford & Three
Rivers

DBC

DBC

Page 104

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Your Town 2021- 5k funrun held in Hemel Hempstead Town Centre
focussing on bringing communities together. All funds raised by the
event will go to a Mayor's Charity.

Hemel Hempstead

All Ages

Your Town

DBC

DBC - £2,000

Encourage mass participation to raise funds to
support local community development projects

1 event held

Oct-21

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Community Grants 2020 - Winter Round - Community Grant funding
have 3 funding rounds a year. Groups putting forward projects /
applications which are aimed at getting inactive residents active, and
link to our strategy, will be given additional points towards their overall
score

Dacorum

Community groups &
Dacorum Residents

DBC

Community groups

£60,000 from DBC per year

Increase in applications for projects relating to
reducing physical inactivity along with improving
community partnerships

Investment of £60,000 per year into Dacorum
Community Groups

April-May
JuneAugust
AugustNovember

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Active Together - Awards For All Funding Application to engage older
adults and adults with disabilities through dance

Hemel Hempstead and
Northchurch

Older adults and
disabilities

DBC

Dacorum Community Dance

£9,858 Awards For All, National
Lotterly Funded

Increase physical activity, reduce lonliness and
isolation

x3 sessions running for 36 weeks

Sep-21

Tackling Physical Inactivity

College Taster Events - A number of taster events to be held to
provide students who might not normally have the oportunity to try
something new

Hemel Hempstead

Dacorum Students

West Herts
College

DBC

In Kind / £400 DBC Funded

Increase awareness of physical activity oportunities.
Improve college link for Dacorm facilities

x2 Taster Sessions

Sep-21

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Wellness Festival 2021 - Expanding on last years success we are
now running a week long event to promote local activity
facilitators/organisations across Dacorum to celebrate wellbeing

Dacorum

All Ages

DBC

Various

DBC funded - £2,000

Raise awareness of activites and services promoting
wellbeing across Dacorum

1 week long event held

31st May - 6th June 21

Low income families

DBC

APEX

Apex funded

To increase physical activity levels through stealth
activiites

Minimum of 5 events in 2021

Summer Holidays 2021

A minimum of 200 unique throughput within
the first 6 months

May-21

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Pop Up in the Park - Free School Holiday activities in local parks to
get young children active and outside during the holiday period

Dacorum

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Gadebridge Junior parkrun - Identified the need for a junior parkrun
within Hemel. Source funds to put towards the initial set up of this

Hemel Hempstead Gadebridge

Young People (4-14)

parkrun

DBC

£1,500 DBC Funded

Improve physical activity levels amongst young
people

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Grovehill Junior parkrun - Identified the need for a junior parkrun
within Grovehill as part of the Active Local. Source funds to put
towards the initial set up of this

Hemel Hempstead - Grovehill

Young People (4-14)

parkrun

DBC

HSP Funded £2,000 - Looking for
£1,000

Improve physical activity levels amongst young
people

A minimum of 200 unique throughput within
the first 6 months

Sep-21

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Ping Pong Parlour - A Ping Pong Parlour project helps commercial
landlords and property managers transform empty retail units into
social pop-up Ping Pong Parlours

Hemel Hempstead

All Dacorum
residents

DBC

Marlowes Centre, Hemel BID

£950 - DBC Funded - BID Match
funding for marketing and
promotions

Benefits are: Business Rate Relief, Customer
Engagement, Physical Activity, Animate Empty
Space and Media and PR Opportunities

n/a

Nov-Feb 21/22

Partnership Working

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Active Local - is Hertfordshire’s collaborative place-based initiative to
reducing inactivity. It aims to support targeted areas in highlighting their
strengths whilst also responding to local need and identifying where Hemel Hempstead - Grovehill
support, intervention or extra capacity is needed to create a more
joined-up approach to tackling inactivity.

All Dacorum
residents

HSP

DBC, Apex and Grovehill
Community Centre

TBC

Ongoing

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Strength and Balance Classes - Designed for individuals wanting to
Hemel Hempstead - Grovehill
improve their strength and balance while learning new exercises to
maintain independence

Older Adults

HSP

Stevenage FC Foundation &
DBC

HSP Funded - £1,000

For older adults to take steps towards better health

x1 Session

Sep-21

Those on pupil premium continue to receive
opportunities for exercise and a hot meal during
school holidays. Helps prevent further rises in
attainment gap

Supporting network of Dacorum programmes

Easter and Summer 21

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

HAPpy Programmes - An extension of the Fit, Fed & Read
Programme to provide holiday provision for those who see a holiday
drop off. Funding provided through the Holiday Hunger Campaign via
Marcus Rashford

Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Sporting Chance Pro Formance Football - Working with HSP to
tackle Knife Crime Prevention. Linking to Community Safety
Partnerships as a strategic priority.

Partnership Working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Partnership Working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

Key

Completed Item, See Completed Tabs

HSP Funded Apprenticehsip.
Outcomes and priorities still to be determind following
£2,000 from SE. Apply for external
insight
funding

Dacorum

Children eligible for
PP

HSP

HCF & DBC

Grants available for Easter and
Summer 21 from Hertfordshire
Community Fund

Dacorum

14 - 19 years

HSP

DBC & Pro Formance
Football

Sport England Satellite Club
Funded - £2,000

Vulnerable targeted groups increase physical activity,
improving health outcomes

x1 football session

Apr-21

Fit, Fed and Read (HSP) - Combat holiday hunger within Hemel to
ensure that more children from disadvantaged families benefit from
enrichment activities and healthy meals during school holidays

Hemel Hempstead

Children eligible for
PP

HSP

DBC & Adventure
Playgrounds

HSP

Those on pupil premium continue to receive
opportunities for exercise and a hot meal during
school holidays. Helps prevent further rises in
attainment gap

x1 programme to be run with APG's

Easter and Summer 21

Shape Up Programme - Partnered with Watford Community Trust
fund to deliver a 12 week weight management programme for
overweight males in Dacorum

Hemel Hempstead

Overweight Adult
Males

Watford FC
Community Trust

DBC

Public Health Funded - £3000

Reduction in overweight males in Dacorum

x1 Programme per year

May-21

Consultation

ALL

Consultation - Gain feedback from Members talking to their
communities about what their communities want to see or get involved
in re physical activity and sports

Dacorum

Members / All

DBC

Members

n/a

Understand reasons for inactivity and identify gaps in
service provision and delivery

n/a

Jan - May 21

ALL

Outdoor Exercise Classes Documentation - Awaiting change in bye
laws to start registration form for all outdoor exercise classes to
provide licence

Dacorum

Members / All

DBC

Members & Dacorum
Residents

n/a

Capture the amount of outdoor exercise classes run
acorss Dacorum and to ensure instructors insurance
in valid

n/a

21-22

Apex in the Community and the Active Dacorum Hub Quarterly Reporting
Item

Location

e.g Partnership working
Tackling Physical Inactivity

e.g Never Too Late Campaign - Seeks to improve levels of
physical activity in older adults. Dacorum will be running x2
sessions for 12 weeks: Sagalates and Seated Pilates

e.g Gadebridge Community
Centre & Hemel Leisure
Centre

e.g Older Adults

e.g Everyone Active &
DBC

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

This Girl Can Campaign - looking to get girls/women more active
in local HP2 area

Activity Hub

women 16yrs +

RG Dance

£2500 awearded by
Community Fund Sport
England

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Walking Football

Adventure Playground Astro
Pitch

Older Adults

Age Uk, DBC, Active
Local

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Apex Football

Active Dacorum Hub

Adults and Young
Children

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Apex Football

Active Dacorum Hub

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Partners (Viking Circle Fitness, The Den Strength and Conditioning
and The Recovery Lab)

Active Dacorum Hub

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Studio Bookings (hires)

Active Dacorum Hub

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Apex Netball

Cupid Green/Tennis Courts

Page 105

DBC Strategy Commitment

Target Group

Funding

Outcome

Project Dates

e.g x2 sessions run in Dacorum

e.g 01/05/2021

Completed Item, See
Completed Table

attracting new particiapants to
the Hub and encouraging more
activity through dance

1 or 2 sessions at Hub

Oct-21

Priority Action

£2,000

To engage with local older adults
who live a sedatory lifestyle and
encourage physical activity and
socilisation.

x1 60 min session a week

May 21

New Item

N/A (See Walking
Football)

N/A

To Encourage local participation
in Football and physical activity

Weekly 1 hour sessions

May 2021 onwards

Young Children
(u11)

Apex Football

N/A

To Encourage local participation
in Football and physical activity

Weekly 1 hour sessions

MAy 2021 onwards

N/A

N/A

N/A

To Encourage local participation
in physical activity and Sports
Rehab.

Various Sessions depedent on Partners

MAy 2021 onwards

Boxmoor Yoga, make a
move dance, Hiit Class,

N/A

Offer/host opporunites for
Communities in various fitness
and dance groups.

Various 1 Hour Bookings accros Monday - Friday

April 2021 onwards

England Netball

N/A

To Encourage local participation
in Netball and physical activity

x1 60 mins session (walking Netball), x1 60 mins
session(Back 2 Netball), x3 60 mins (Netball Clubs),
Junior Camp x 2 days

e.g The campaign seeks to
e.g £10,000 awarded from
improve levels of physical activity
HSP
in older adults

England Netball sessions start Mid May, Club sessions Start May

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Apex Tennis

Cupid Green/Tennis Courts

All Age Groups

DBC

N/A

To Encourage local participation
in Tennis and physical activity

Daily
April 2021 Onwards

Completed Items

Apex KPI Reporting / Partnership
Working

Grovehill Scouts Tennis

Cupid Green Tennis Courts

Key

Success Measures

Adults 18+

Partners

Local Beavers
Group 6-10 year
olds

Grovehill Beavers, Active
Local, Lawn Tennis
Association, Herts
Tennis Association

£100

To introduce Local Beavers to
Tennis and help them to achieve
various Badges.

x1 60 Min Session

9th June 2021

Dacorum Borough Council - Physical Activity and Sport Annual Action Plan - Dacorum Sports Network
DBC Strategy Commitment

Item

EXAMPLE - Facilities and
Infrastructure

Cupid Green Playing Fields Tennis Courts - Address the
transformation and resurfacing of the tennis courts where we will
be aiming to provide both netball and tennis by utilising S106’s
funds

Location

Target Group

Lead Org

Partners

Funding

Outcome

Success Measures

Project Dates

Facilities and Infrastructure
Hemel Hempstead Grovehill

Facilities and Infrastructure

Berkhamsted & Hemel Hempstead Hockey Club
- Construction of new Hockey AGP with Floodlights Planning Ref: 20/01235/MFA
https://planning.dacorum.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do
?keyVal=QAM8PAFOIS100&activeTab=summary

Facilities and Infrastructure

Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure / Tring Tornadoes
Pendley Sports Centre Cow
- Application to build new AGP with Floodlights Lane
Planning Ref: 21/02043/FUL
Tring
https://planning.dacorum.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do
?keyVal=QTAGRAFOH2100&activeTab=summary

Cow Roast - Tring

Dacorum Residents

DBC

Dacorum Residents

Berkhamsted &
Hemel
Hempstead
Hockey Club
(BHHHC)

Residents:
Dacorum Borough
Herts County
Bucks County
Berks County
Beds County

TSEL / TTJSC

n/a

£60,000 funded from S106

Completed Item, See Completed Tabs

Improve the quality of the tennis courts on site
and add the provision of netball

New surface in place

Apr-21

England Hockey
Currently £14k from
Sport England
Berkhamsted Sports Ground
Construction Target Start
Planning granted. Outcome will be only the
Herts Sports Partnership
Charitable Association,
Date - Apr-22
A New floodlit AGP
second AGP in Dacorum, a fantastic facility that will
Dacorum Sports Network £150,000 pledged in loans from
Target Completion Date have a community use agreement in place.
Northchurch Parish Council
‘friends and members’ of the
Sept-22
Berkhamsted
Sports
club.
Sport England
New all-weather playing facilities with floodlights, Increase in number of training sessions and
Planning Application - May
Herts Sports Partnership
that enables the club to achieve much greater
matches played per week.
Consulting & Planning
2021
Herts FA
utilisation of the existing space daily, weekly,
Reduction in lost playing time due to
Application Fees circa £10,000 Planning Approval - July
The Football Foundation
monthly and all year round.
weather / pitch conditions
self funded
2021
Dacorum Sports Network
Growth in the numbers of playing
Build Start - May 2022
Pendleys Sports Limited
Potential to address some of the existing shortfalls participants above current circa 550 junior
AGP Build £500 - £750k - TBA
Build Completion - Aug
Pendley Sports Centre
in Match Equivalent Sessions (MES) - excluding
membership baseline.
2022
Limited
the consequences of the DBC Local Plan to 2038.
Increase in female (Junior & adult)

Tackling Physical Inactivity

Page 106
Partnership Working

Consultation

Key

Priority Action

New Item

Agenda Item 9
Last updated on 20 September 2021
Housing and Community OSC: Work Programme 2021/22
When reminders are sent to officers for the report deadline: can we include Cllr Imarni
(Chair) and Cllr Adeleke (Vice-Chair) to the email so they are aware of what items are
on the agenda please?

Meeting
Date

Report
Deadline

Items

Contact Details

Wed 13 Oct
21

Monday
4 Oct 21

Action Points (from
previous meeting)

Housing Allocations
Policy

Background
information

Group Manager – Strategic
Housing
Natasha.beresford@dacorum.g
ov.uk

Physical Activity &
Sports Action Plan

Group Manager – Communities

Garages Project
Presentation

Corporate Director, Finance &
Operations

Layna.warden@dacorum.gov.uk

James.deane@dacorum.gov.uk

Wed 10 Nov
21

Monday
1 Nov 21

Action Points (from
previous meeting)

Budget Monitoring
Q2 report

Group Manager (Financial
Services)
Fiona.jump@dacorum.gov.uk

To review
and
scrutinise
quarterly
performance

Q2 People &
Communities
Performance report

Group Manager – Communities

To review
and
scrutinise
quarterly
performance

Layna.warden@dacorum.gov.uk

1

Page 107

Last updated on 20 September 2021
Q2 Housing
Performance Report

Assistant Director for Housing

Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.
uk
Berkhamsted Sports
Centre

Assistant Director for Corporate
and Contracted Services

Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk

Wed 1 Dec
2021

Wed 12 Jan
2022

Monday
22 Nov
2021

Action Points (from
previous meeting)

Joint Budget

Corporate Director, Finance &
Operations

Ideally no further
items to be added

James.deane@dacorum.gov.uk

Monday
3 Jan
2022
Action Points (from
previous meeting)

Tues 2 Feb
2022

Monday
24 Jan
2022

Action Points (from
previous meeting)

Joint Budget
Ideally no further
items to be added

Wed 2

Monday
21 Feb

Corporate Director, Finance &
Operations
James.deane@dacorum.gov.uk

Action Points (from

2

Page 108

To review
and
scrutinise
quarterly
performance

Last updated on 20 September 2021
March 2022

2022

previous meeting)

Budget Monitoring
Q3 report

Group Manager (Financial
Services)

Fiona.jump@dacorum.gov.uk
Q3 People &
Communities
Performance report

Group Manager – Communities

Q3 Housing
Performance Report

Assistant Director for Housing

Layna.warden@dacorum.gov.uk

Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.
uk

3

Page 109

To review
and
scrutinise
quarterly
performance
To review
and
scrutinise
quarterly
performance
To review
and
scrutinise
quarterly
performance

st

Actions arising – 1 September 2021

Date of
meeting
HC/047/21
01/09/21

Page 110

HC/047/21
01/09/21

HC/047/21
01/09/21

Action point

Cllr Adeleke, through the
Chairman, commended the
efforts of Communications staff
during the Covid crisis. L
Warden confirmed she would
let staff know.

Responsible
for action
L. Warden

Cllr Adeleke mentioned
problems with delivery of
Digest and that some
Councillors had residents
advise they had not received
them. Cllr Adeleke also asked
if Communications could
include information on
community grants in the
Digest. L Warden would
speak to Matt Rawdon about
delivery and also advised that
with community grants it’s
important that we get the
message out to as many
people as possible, so we are
highlighting this in Members
News and Dacorum Live.

L. Warden

Cllr Mahmood queried how
referrals are made to the

L. Warden

Date action
completed

Update on action point
Email sent to relevant teams to pass on thanks from Cllr
Adeleke

Email sent to Matt Rawdon regarding delivery.
Info about community grants provided to Portfolio holder to
include at next full council meeting. Information to be shared
with the Communications team for next edition of Dacorum
Live and already provided through routes where there is the
greatest access to community and voluntary organisations.

We have moved from a general leafleting model (from
the National Leafleting Company) to that of a door-todoor model provided by Royal Mail. This is based on
addresses and boundary matched to our borough, and
considered the best option for mass distribution. If
anyone has missed a delivery, they should report this
on our website at
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/dacorum-life

Email sent to Healthy Hub officer who will provide info to
members

Agenda Item 10

Housing and Community OSC

Page 111

Healthy Hub. L Warden
advised that there are a few
different routes that people can
come to the Healthy Hub, they
can access it online through
our website or the Healthy Hub
website, they can request
information or a referral with a
variety of areas at which point
contact will be made and
they’ll be put in touch with the
relevant agencies to support or
help them. Additionally there’s
drop in sessions at the South
Hill Centre. L Warden
confirmed that she would
circulate some information for
Members which can be shared
with as many residents as
possible.
HC/047/21
01/09/21

Cllr Mahmood asked why
didn’t we have something like
a ticker tape outside the
building, advertising things like
the community grants or
Healthy Hub, as it would be
nice to communicate what we
are doing with the wider public.
L Warden confirmed that we
advertise through a number of
channels, for example social
media and the big screen in
the Marlowes, but she would
let Matt know for him to

L. Warden

Email sent to Matt Rawdon for info

As part of the design of the Forum, we have screens
both at the entrance to the Forum, in the Customer
Service seating area and the atrium video wall. These
screens are used to run multiple campaigns and service
information throughout the year, including promotion of
community grants and the Healthy Hub. This sits
alongside a comprehensive mix of other communication
channels used as part of our omni-channel marketing
and communications programme. The suggestion of a
‘ticker tape style’ channel was raised in 2019 in
reference to our website. This suggestion was
discounted due to the fact that ticker tape is not mobile-

consider the options.

responsive, and does not meet accessibility standards.

Page 112

HC/048/21
01/09/21

Cllr Bassadone wanted to
check some of the figures in
the report for the lifeline as
they mention March. N
Beresford confirmed they were
an error and would provide up
to date details

N. Beresford

HC/049/21
01/09/21

The Chairman said that the
both of the outstanding actions
from previous meetings were
completed but would check
with Cllr Pringle on that point.

Cllr Imarni

16/06/21
HC/028/21

21/07/21
HC/039/21

[
Councillor Pringle
asked whilst the
issue of the
children’s
playground was
referred to Clean
Safe and Green
could the severity of
the flooding at Canal
Fields also be
reported.
M. Rawdon asked if
Councillor Pringle
could provide the
photographs she
had received
regarding the
flooding.

The performance of our community alarm monitoring
and response service remains below target with
93.48% of calls being answered within 60 seconds.
Progress was made in the first month of the quarter and
offered reassurance that performance would achieve
the target KPI, however staffing levels were significantly
impacted by Covid-19 outbreak within the contractors
response centre.

Action: Councillor
Pringle to provide
photographs of
flooding at Canal
Fields.]

Page 113

